
PUBLIC NOTICE
Board Meeting of the:

Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District
170 Russell Ave. Suite C
Susanville, CA 96130
5302574127 ext. 100

Attachments available 07/22/24 at www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us

Date: Thursday, August 22nd, 2024
Location: 170 Russell Ave., Suite C, Susanville CA 96130

Time: 5:30 PM
AGENDA

NOTE: THE HONEY LAKE VALLEY RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICT MAY ADVISE ACTION ON ANY OF
THE AGENDA ITEMS SHOWN BELOW.

NOTE: IF YOU NEED A DISABILITY-RELATED MODIFICATION OR ACCOMMODATION, INCLUDING AUXILIARY
AIDS OR SERVICES, TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS MEETING, PLEASE CONTACT THE DISTRICT OFFICE AT THE
TELEPHONE NUMBER AND ADDRESS LISTED ABOVE AT LEAST A DAY BEFORE THE MEETING.

I. CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL

II. APPROVAL OF AGENDA -

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

III. PUBLIC COMMENT

Per RCD Board Policy No. 5030.4.1, during this portion of the meeting, any member of the public is permitted to
make a brief statement, express his/her viewpoint, or ask a question regarding matters related to the District.
Five (5) minutes may be allotted to each speaker and a maximum of twenty (20) minutes to each subject matter.

IV. CONSENT ITEMS –

A. Correspondence
B. Meeting Minutes – 07/25/2024
C. Financial Reports - attached
D. Agreements/Contracts

http://www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us


Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD Leadership & Organizational Capacity.

V. ITEMS FOR BOARD ACTION AND/OR DISCUSSION – RCD

A. Discussion, Consideration, and Approval of the Board's Response to CARCD Bylaws Committee on the
Proposed Updates and Alternatives to the November 2018 CARCD Bylaws (attachments).

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD Leadership & Organizational Capacity.

VI. ITEMS FOR BOARD ACTION AND/OR DISCUSSION – WATERMASTER
NONE

VII. REPORTS
A. District Manager Report – Siemer (attachment)

B. Watermaster / WAC Report – Burvant

C. CARCD Report - Hanson

D. Unagendized reports by board members
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD Leadership & Organizational Capacity & Strategic Issue 2 -
Prioritize the Conservation Needs of the Community

VIII. ADJOURNMENT TO CLOSED SESSION
A. Conference with Real Property Negotiations - Agency Negotiation (Kelsey Siemer - District Manager)

(Government Code Section 54956.8)
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

IX. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION

X. ADJOURNMENT
The next Honey Lake Valley RCD meeting will be September 26th, 2024, at 5:30 PM. The location
is the USDA Service Center, 170 Russell Avenue, Suite C, Susanville, CA.

I certify that on Monday, August 19th, 2024 agendas were posted as required by Government Code Section 54956 and any other
applicable law.

X____________________
Kelsey Siemer
District Manager



PUBLIC NOTICE
Board Meeting of the:

Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District
170 Russell Ave. Suite C
Susanville, CA 96130
5302574127 ext. 100

Attachments available 07/22/2024 at www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us

Date: Thursday, July 25th, 2024
Location: 170 Russell Ave., Suite C, Susanville CA 96130

MEETING MINUTES
*votes taken via role call*

NOTE: THE HONEY LAKE VALLEY RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICT MAY ADVISE
ACTION ON ANY OF THE AGENDA ITEMS SHOWN BELOW.

NOTE: IF YOU NEED A DISABILITY-RELATED MODIFICATION OR ACCOMMODATION,
INCLUDING AUXILIARY AIDS OR SERVICES, TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS MEETING, PLEASE
CONTACT THE DISTRICT OFFICE AT THE TELEPHONE NUMBER AND ADDRESS LISTED
ABOVE AT LEAST A DAY BEFORE THE MEETING.

I. CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, ROLL CALL

Board member Jesse Claypool called the meeting to order at 5:31PM, and a quorum was noted.
Board Members Laurie Tippin and Will Johnson were absent.

II. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Board member Robin Hanson made a motion to approve the agenda with the modification to move item
V(A) to Section VI: Items for Board Action and/or Discussion - RCD. Board member Wayne Langston
seconded the motion with the modification, and the motion passed. All.

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

III. PUBLIC COMMENT - NONE

Per RCD Board Policy No. 5030.4.1, during this portion of the meeting, any member of the
public is permitted to make a brief statement, express his/her viewpoint, or ask a question

http://www.honeylakevalleyrcd.us


regarding matters related to the District. Five (5) minutes may be allotted to each speaker and a
maximum of twenty (20) minutes to each subject matter.

IV. CONSENT ITEMS –

A. Correspondence
B. Meeting Minutes – 06/27/2024
C. Financial Reports
D. Agreements/Contracts

Board Member Robin Hanson made a motion to approve the consent items, Board member Wayne
Langston seconded, and the motion passed. All.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

V. ITEMS FOR BOARD ACTION AND/OR DISCUSSION – WATERMASTER

A. Old Channel Project Update - J-U-B Engineers

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

B. Direction to Staff regarding Sloss Creek Billing Issues

Direction was given to staff.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

VI. ITEMS FOR BOARD ACTION AND/OR DISCUSSION – RCD
A. Old Channel Project Update - J-U-B Engineers

Project updates were given by Ben Volk.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 2 – Prioritize the Conservation Needs of the Community.

B. Consideration and Approval of Policy 2700: Internet, E-mail, and Electronics Communication
Ethics, Usage and Security (attachment)

Board member Wayne Langston made a motion to approve Policy 2700, Board Member Robin Hanson
seconded, and the motion passed. All.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD Leadership & Organizational Capacity.

C. Consideration and adoption of Resolution 2024 - 04 Accepting Grant of Permit (attachment)
Board Member Wayne Langston made a motion to adopt Resolution 2024 - 04, Board Member Robin
Hanson seconded, and the motion passed. All.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 2 – Prioritize the Conservation Needs of the Community.

D. Review of Policy 1020: Conflict of Interest (attachment)
Board Member Robin Hanson made a motion to approve Policy 1020 as is, Board Member Wayne
Langston seconded, and the motion passed. All.
Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD Leadership & Organizational Capacity.

VII. REPORTS



A. District Manager Report – Siemer (attachment)
Kelsey gave updates on all grant projects, financial standing, and current
issues/successes.

B. Watermaster / WAC Report – Langston/Siemer/Burvant
Gave updates on the current issues/sucesses of the WM Service

C. Unagendized reports by board members
NONE

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD Leadership & Organizational Capacity &
Strategic Issue 2 - Prioritize the Conservation Needs of the Community

VII. ADJOURNMENT TO CLOSED SESSION - 7:20PM

A. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL - ANTICIPATED LITIGATION: Significant
exposure to litigation pursuant to paragraph (2) or (3) of subdivision (d) of Section 54956.9:
One Case. The District has received a claim from a contractor for additional compensation; a
copy is on file with the District and available upon request.

Tie to the Strategic Plan: Strategic Issue 1 – Build HLVRCD leadership & organizational capacity.

VIII. RETURN TO OPEN SESSION - 8:15PM

The Board announced no reportable action.

IX. ADJOURNMENT - 8:16PM

The next Honey Lake Valley RCD meeting will be August 22nd, 2024, at 5:30 PM. The
location is the USDA Service Center, 170 Russell Avenue, Suite C, Susanville, CA.

Respectfully Submitted,
APPROVED: _________________________________

Jesse Claypool, RCD Board
Chairperson

DATE: 8/22/2024
Kelsey Siemer
District Manager



Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District
Statement of Activity by Class

July 2023 - June 2024

CalFire
FMP

CalRecycl
e FR 77 -

Minch CEQA
DOC

Riparian
General

Fund
IRWMP

Round 1
IRWMP

Round 2
Modoc

SNC 966
NACD

TA2022
NRCS
Equity

Old Channel
Grant PBA

USFS Post
Fire

Watermast
er Fund

Work
Force TOTAL

Revenue

   CEQA Filing Fees

   Grant Proceeds

   Reimbursement

   Watermasters

      Apportionments

      Direct Billing

   Total Watermasters $ 0.00     $ 0.00       $ 0.00   $ 0.00         $ 0.00           $ 0.00     $ 0.00         $ 0.00     $ 0.00       $ 0.00     $ 0.00             $ 0.00     $ 0.00         $ $ 0.00     $ 289,088.20   

Total Revenue $ $ $ 0.00   $ $ 15,071.65   $ $ 0.00         $ $ $ $2,935,313.21 $ 199.20  $ $ $ $4,288,361.05 

Gross Profit $ $ $ 0.00   $ $ 15,071.65   $ $ 0.00         $ $ $ $2,935,313.21 $ 199.20  $ $ $ $4,288,361.05 

Expenditures

   Ask My Accountant

   Bank Charges & Fees

   Car & Truck

   CEQA

   Contractors

   Employee Reimbursement

   Facilities

      Rent & Lease

      Utilities

   Total Facilities $ 0.00     $ 0.00       $ 0.00   $ 0.00         $ 467.88        $ 0.00     $ 0.00         $ 0.00     $ 0.00       $ 0.00     $ 0.00             $ 0.00     $ 6,331.32   $ 467.88      $ 0.00     $ 7,267.08       

   Fraud

   Grant Expenditures

   Insurance

   Job Supplies

   Lease

   Legal & Professional Services

   Meals & Entertainment

   Membership Dues

   Mileage Reimbursement

   Office Supplies & Software

   Payroll

      Payroll Taxes

      Payroll Wages

   Total Payroll $ $ 3,152.08 $ 0.00   $ 13,456.17 $ 11,234.29   $ $ 1,790.62   $ $ 1,763.94 $ $ 24,969.70     $ 449.09  $ 84,267.44 $ 62,114.09 $ $ 216,787.70   

   Payroll Platform Expenses

   Telecommunications

   Trainings + Conferences

   WM Gas

   WM Vehicle Service/Repair

Total Expenditures $ $ $ 70.94 $ $ 50,014.77   $ $ 1,790.62   $ $ $ $3,198,864.41 $ 884.19  $ $ $ $4,357,827.04 

Net Operating Revenue $ 15.59   $ 1,617.92 -$ 70.94 -$ 3,873.63  -$ 34,943.12  $ -$ 1,790.62  $ $ $ -$ 263,551.20  -$ 684.99 $ 58,034.32 $ $ 497.89  -$ 69,465.99    

Other Revenue

   Interest Income

Total Other Revenue $ 5.49           $ 39.61       $ 45.10           

Net Other Revenue $ 0.00     $ 0.00       $ 0.00   $ 0.00         $ 5.49           $ 0.00     $ 0.00         $ 0.00     $ 0.00       $ 0.00     $ 0.00             $ 0.00     $ 0.00         $ 39.61       $ 0.00     $ 45.10           

Net Revenue $ 15.59   $ 1,617.92 -$ 70.94 -$ 3,873.63  -$ 34,937.63  $ -$ 1,790.62  $ $ $ -$ 263,551.20  -$ 684.99 $ 58,034.32 $ $ 497.89  -$ 69,420.89    

289,088.20 

4,721.29 68,363.36 103,194.79 5,092.50 9,015.67 59,749.94 7,434.30 787,063.21 289,088.20 4,053.73 

4,721.29 68,363.36 103,194.79 5,092.50 9,015.67 59,749.94 7,434.30 787,063.21 289,088.20 4,053.73 

1,555.70 1,840.64 2,950.27 5,336.76 1,906.91 

4,705.70 66,745.44 107,068.42 1,840.64 7,592.47 40,317.35 6,199.01 729,028.89 139,148.35 3,555.84 

3,251.86 1,423.20 19,432.59 1,235.29 149,939.85 

3,251.86 1,423.20 19,432.59 1,235.29 149,979.46 

14,548.75 14,548.75 

4,721.29 68,363.36 103,194.79 522.90 5,092.50 8,996.91 59,749.94 7,434.30 2,935,313.21 199.20 787,063.21 4,053.73 3,984,705.34 

18.76 18.76 

0.00 

227,024.20 227,024.20 

62,064.00 62,064.00 

4,246.63 4,246.63 

1,163.06 1,163.05 2,326.11 

54.00 344.57 19,577.23 19,975.80 

70.94 44.69 115.63 

3,150.00 63,593.36 64,766.74 38,553.41 3,173,129.33 616,234.95 3,959,427.79 

258.39 258.39 

0.00 

5,500.00 5,500.00 

467.88 831.32 467.88 1,767.08 

0.00 0.00 

28,845.51 4,202.20 672.95 693.09 10,689.38 648.93 45,752.06 

5,066.46 5,841.32 8,649.99 19,557.77 

45.03 90.82 435.10 261.93 1,939.23 2,772.11 

3,066.60 -3,066.60 0.00 

19,029.42 34,082.38 53,111.80 

68.37 68.37 

912.34 408.50 1,320.84 

176.75 3,358.32 3,535.07 

4,894.94 98.48 72.29 1,082.53 4,502.98 10,651.22 

0.00 

110.56 234.65 1,022.77 956.48 150.91 128.29 207.82 156.33 382.23 1,975.19 30.98 6,438.47 5,567.81 135.51 17,498.00 

1,445.14 2,917.43 12,433.40 10,277.81 1,689.73 1,662.33 2,742.45 1,607.61 4,954.53 22,994.51 418.11 77,828.97 56,546.28 1,771.40 199,289.70 

1,596.55 1,479.12 3,075.67 

1,014.36 650.46 1,174.10 2,838.92 

440.00 788.19 1,000.00 2,228.19 

2,072.36 2,072.36 

437.53 437.53 

5.49 39.61 45.10 



Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District
Statement of Activity

June 2024

Total
Revenue

   Grant Proceeds

   Watermasters

      Apportionments

   Total Watermasters $ 83,683.78 

Total Revenue $ 111,073.05 

Gross Profit $ 111,073.05 

Expenditures

   Bank Charges & Fees

   Car & Truck

   Contractors

   Employee Reimbursement

   Facilities

      Utilities

   Total Facilities $ 160.04 

   Grant Expenditures

   Insurance

   Job Supplies

   Legal & Professional Services

   Mileage Reimbursement

   Office Supplies & Software

   Payroll

      Payroll Taxes

      Payroll Wages

   Total Payroll $ 16,449.46 

   Payroll Platform Expenses

   Telecommunications

   WM Gas

   WM Vehicle Service/Repair

Total Expenditures $ 45,507.99 

Net Operating Revenue $ 65,565.06 

Other Revenue

   Interest Income

Total Other Revenue $ 2.97 

Net Other Revenue $ 2.97 

Net Revenue $ 65,568.03 

27,389.27 

83,683.78 

715.83 

99.32 

19,490.44 

258.39 

160.04 

1,300.32 

904.75 

1,053.15 

3,380.00 

176.75 

417.10 

1,393.13 

15,056.33 

227.12 

180.86 

457.07 

237.39 

2.97 



Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District
Statement of Activity

July 1 - August 16, 2024

CalFire
FMP

DOC
Riparian

General
Fund

IRWMP
Round

1
IRWMP

Round 2
Modoc

SNC 966
NACD

TA2022
NRCS
Equity

Old
Channel

Grant PBA
USFS Post

Fire
Watermaste

r Fund
Work
Force TOTAL

Revenue

   Grant Proceeds

   Watermasters

      Apportionments

   Total Watermasters $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 0.00           $ 0.00   $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 0.00         $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 0.00         $ 4,352.54     $ 0.00     $ 4,352.54     

Total Revenue $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 0.00           $300.00 $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 0.00         $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 0.00         $ 4,352.54     $ 0.00     $ 4,652.54     

Gross Profit $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 0.00           $300.00 $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 0.00         $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 0.00         $ 4,352.54     $ 0.00     $ 4,652.54     

Expenditures

   Bank Charges & Fees

   Car & Truck

   Equipment

   Facilities

      Utilities

   Total Facilities $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 162.58        $ 0.00   $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 0.00         $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 0.00         $ 162.58        $ 0.00     $ 325.16        

   Grant Expenditures

   Insurance

   Job Supplies

   Office Supplies & Software

   Payroll

      Payroll Taxes

      Payroll Wages

   Total Payroll $ 265.57  $ 510.46  $ 1,054.72     $306.28 $ 102.10  $ 756.19  $ 102.10  $ 851.18      $ 749.08  $ 153.45  $ 5,075.75   $ 6,363.99     $ 106.02  $ 16,396.89   

   Payroll Platform Expenses

   Taxes & Licenses

   Telecommunications

   WM Gas

Total Expenditures $ 265.57  $ 510.46  $ 10,682.96   $306.28 $ 102.10  $ 870.95  $ 102.10  $ 1,544.29   $ 749.08  $ 153.45  $ 6,119.12   $ 19,861.22   $ 206.02  $ 41,473.60   

Net Operating Revenue -$ 265.57 -$ 510.46 -$ 10,682.96  -$ 6.28  -$ 102.10 -$ 870.95 -$ 102.10 -$ 1,544.29  -$ 749.08 -$ 153.45 -$ 6,119.12  -$ 15,508.68  -$ 206.02 -$ 36,821.06  

Other Revenue

   Interest Income

Total Other Revenue $ 0.18           $ 2.89           $ 3.07           

Net Other Revenue $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 0.18           $ 0.00   $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 0.00         $ 0.00     $ 0.00     $ 0.00         $ 2.89           $ 0.00     $ 3.07           

Net Revenue -$ 265.57 -$ 510.46 -$ 10,682.78  -$ 6.28  -$ 102.10 -$ 870.95 -$ 102.10 -$ 1,544.29  -$ 749.08 -$ 153.45 -$ 6,119.12  -$ 15,505.79  -$ 206.02 -$ 36,817.99  

300.00 300.00 

0.00 

4,352.54 4,352.54 

223.12 223.11 446.23 

104.76 104.76 

105.25 105.24 210.49 

0.00 

162.58 162.58 325.16 

10.00 672.16 100.00 782.16 

8,226.43 904.75 11,682.65 20,813.83 

36.34 215.85 252.19 

614.75 20.95 42.28 126.00 803.98 

0.00 

18.87 35.33 72.98 21.20 7.07 53.52 7.07 58.91 51.84 10.62 358.87 512.67 7.53 1,216.48 

246.70 475.13 981.74 285.08 95.03 702.67 95.03 792.27 697.24 142.83 4,716.88 5,851.32 98.49 15,180.41 

171.84 171.87 343.71 

23.00 23.00 

124.27 60.00 241.64 425.91 

545.29 545.29 

0.18 2.89 3.07 



Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District
Statement of Financial Position

As of July 31, 2024

Total
ASSETS

   Current Assets

      Bank Accounts

         US - Grants Checking (7921)

         US - RCD Checking (7897)

         US - RCD Savings (7905)

         US - Restricted RCD Savings (7913)

         US - WaterMaster Checking (7947)

         US - WaterMaster Savings (7954)

      Total Bank Accounts $ 1,144,468.96                                                                       

      Accounts Receivable

         Accounts Receivable - Other

         Accounts Receivable - Watermaster Fund

         Grants Receivable

      Total Accounts Receivable $ 92,867.28                                                                            

      Other Current Assets

         Due from Other Funds

         Other Current Assets

         Prepaid Expense

         Undeposited Funds

      Total Other Current Assets $ 34,990.11                                                                            

   Total Current Assets $ 1,272,326.35                                                                       

   Fixed Assets

      Vehicles

   Total Fixed Assets $ 0.00                                                                                     

TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,272,326.35                                                                       

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

   Liabilities

      Current Liabilities

         Accounts Payable

            Accounts Payable (A/P)

         Total Accounts Payable $ 337,452.72                                                                          

         Credit Cards

            Ramp Card

         Total Credit Cards $ 374.97                                                                                 

         Other Current Liabilities

            Deferred Revenue - 120 Days

            Deferred Revenue - Advance

               Deferred Revenue DWR - IRWMP Round 2

               Deferred Revenue DWR Old Channel Grant

               Deferred Revenue NACD TA2022

               Deferred Revenue PBA

               Deferred Revenue USFS Post Fire

            Total Deferred Revenue - Advance $ 523,920.50                                                                          

            Deferred Revenue - Retention

            Due to Other Funds

            Payroll Clearing

            Unpaid Payroll - Both

         Total Other Current Liabilities $ 565,914.69                                                                          

      Total Current Liabilities $ 903,742.38                                                                          

   Total Liabilities $ 903,742.38                                                                          

   Equity

      Opening Balance Equity

      Restricted Opening Equity

      Retained Earnings

      Net Revenue

   Total Equity $ 368,583.97                                                                          

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 1,272,326.35                                                                       

61,124.65 

30,003.21 

2,456.08 

521,790.50 

491,139.90 

37,954.62 

1,180.80 

10,636.25 

81,050.23 

34,990.11 

0.00 

0.00 

0.00 

0.00 

337,452.72 

374.97 

0.00 

0.00 

523,920.50 

0.00 

0.00 

0.00 

0.00 

7,004.08 

34,990.11 

0.00 

0.00 

324,921.03 

0.00 

79,141.55 

-35,478.61 



Honey Lake Valley Resource Conservation District
Statement of Activity

July 2024

Total
Revenue

   Grant Proceeds

   Watermasters

      Apportionments

   Total Watermasters $ 4,352.54 

Total Revenue $ 4,652.54 

Gross Profit $ 4,652.54 

Expenditures

   Bank Charges & Fees

   Car & Truck

   Facilities

      Utilities

   Total Facilities $ 237.18 

   Grant Expenditures

   Insurance

   Job Supplies

   Office Supplies & Software

   Payroll

      Payroll Taxes

      Payroll Wages

   Total Payroll $ 16,396.89 

   Payroll Platform Expenses

   Telecommunications

   WM Gas

Total Expenditures $ 40,134.22 

Net Operating Revenue -$ 35,481.68 

Other Revenue

   Interest Income

Total Other Revenue $ 3.07 

Net Other Revenue $ 3.07 

Net Revenue -$ 35,478.61 

300.00 

4,352.54 

302.05 

75.00 

237.18 

782.16 

20,813.83 

230.25 

397.83 

1,216.48 

15,180.41 

229.14 

224.42 

445.47 

3.07 



TO: CARCD Member RCDs 
FROM: CARCD Bylaws Committee 
DATE: August 9, 2024 

SUBJECT: CARCD BYLAW AMENDMENTS - WORKING DRAFT 

The CARCD Bylaws Committee has has been working for the last five months, including eight 
Committee meetings and numerous subcommittee meetings, to develop the attached version of 
potential Bylaws amendments. This work product reflects the committee members’ thoughts and 
opinions and not the position of any RCD that we are affiliated with. However, our work is far 
from done. We would like your input on the work we have completed so our final effort reflects 
member RCD feedback. The Committee will evaluate the comments received and develop a 
final recommendation that all member RCDs will receive approximately November 1, 2024, so 
you will have sufficient time to develop a position for your RCD representatives to participate in 
the discussion and voting at the annual membership meeting to be held as part of the CARCD 
Conference in December 2024.  

Your feedback is due by September 30, 2024. However, if you have competed your review 
prior to that time, please submit your comments once the RCD has approved. Please submit 
your feedback by mail to the CARCD, 1007 7th Street, #414, Sacramento, CA 95814 (please 
use regular or Priority mail - do not use certified mail) or by email to elections@carcd.org. 
Please direct questions to info@carcd.org with “Bylaw Question” in the subject line. 

Attached are two versions of our working draft; a marked-up version with underline and strikeout 
showing all the changes; and a clean version for easier reading.  

We are looking for feedback that includes, but is not limited to; concerns regarding the additions 
or deletions that have been made; did we not change something you believe should be changed 
(and if so, suggest language); and, your thoughts on the two areas where the Committee could 
not reach consensus and have included two alternatives which are described below. While we 
respect the opinions of RCDs on these matters we are especially interested in the rationale you 
used in reaching your position.  

Highlight of Significant Changes (Also see Table 1 for more detail) 

Governance v. Policy: The Committee is suggesting that the Bylaws only include provisions 
related to the governance of the Association. Anything related to policy was deleted to be 
included in policy documents for consideration by the CARCD Board of Directors at a future 
time.  

Executive Committee Authority: The Bylaws Committee could not reach consensus on whether 
to leave the current Bylaws language giving the Committee authority similar to that of the Board 
of Directors or to remove all authority from the Executive Committee and leave it to the Board of 
Directors to decide what authority, if any, to delegate to the Executive Committee. There are two 
alternatives included in the working draft to address this position. One perspective on this was 
that governance is the role of the Board of Directors and allowing the Executive Committee to 
exercise this role with limited and delayed oversight combined with the lack of transparency 
regarding the actions of the Executive Committee needed to be addressed. The other 
perspective on this was that the Executive Committee needed authority to respond to time 
sensitive matters and to act on items with little to no controversy between the meetings of the 
Board of Directors. However, recognizing the current Bylaws timing and lack of specificity on 
Board of Director’s review of actions of the Executive Committee, the alternative that retains the 
authority language from the current Bylaws includes new language describing when the 
Executive Committee should act and provides for expedited notification and specificity on how 
the Board of Directors can review an action.  



District Manager / Executive Director Voting on Board of Directors: California Codes, under 
which the Association operates, specifies that all members of the Board of Directors have voting 
rights. The current Bylaws provide for three District Managers / Executive Directors (elected by 
their peers) to be on the Board of Directors with voting rights. Additionally, it allows District 
Managers / Executive Directors to be Regional Chairs under specified conditions but precludes 
them from having a vote on the Board of Directors. (The Bylaws specify that Regional Chairs 
have a seat on the Board of Directors.) The Bylaws Committee could not reach consensus on 
whether to: retain the concept from the current Bylaws which would then preclude a  Regional 
Chair who is a District Manager / Executive Director from serving on the Board of Directors (a 
Regional Vice Chair who is a District Director could fill this position on the Board of Directors); 
allow any District Manager / Executive Director to sit on the Board of Directors and thereby have 
voting rights, regardless of how they were entitled to the seat; or, remove all provisions that 
allow District Managers / Executive Directors to have a seat on the Board of Directors. 

Officer Terms: Limited to two years. 

Governance Committees: Established new category of Committee and establishes five 
committees: Executive, Legislative, Policy, Finance and Nominating. Option of appointing an 
Inspection of Elections Committee. 

Nominating Committee Role: Broadens the scope of this committee’s role to seek interest in 
officer positions from all District Directors, not just current officers.  

Committee Charters: Requires Board of Directors approval of a charter for all committees.  

Board of Directors Ex-Officio members: Removes these positions from the BOD and allows the 
BOD to form an advisory council.  

Meeting Notices and Minutes: Requires meeting notices and agendas for all Board and 
committee meetings be posted on the Association website in advance of meetings and minutes 
of all meetings be posted on the Association website. 

While the Committee hopes that we get feedback from all member RCDs, we realize that may 
not be a reasonable expectation. However, we would like to know the level of review, if any, that 
each RCD completed. Therefore, we are requesting that you include in your feedback one of the 
numerals indicating your level of review. 

1. RCD reviewed the working draft, concur with the draft, and have no opinion on the 
alternatives. 

2. RCD reviewed the working draft, concur with the draft, and have provided feedback 
on the alternatives. 

3. RCD reviewed the working draft and has the following comments.  
4. RCD did not review the working draft but has the following feedback on the 

alternatives. 
5. RCD has not reviewed the working draft.  
6. Other - please specify.  

Attachments 
Working Draft - marked up 
Working Draft - Clean 
Table 1



To: CARCD Member Districts  
From: Bylaws Committee 
Date: August 19, 2024 
 
On August 9, 2024 we transmitted to you our working draft of possible CARCD Bylaw changes. 
We have been advised that the working draft (version showing additions and deletions) did not 
include Article IX (Annual Conference) from the existing Bylaws. Additionally, we have 
determined that a few words from the existing Bylaws were not included in this working draft 
and the language pertaining to the DM Alternatives was confusing.  
 
The DM Alternatives can be summarized as follows and an RCD may express its support or 
opposition to each of the four options separately (it is not a given that if option A is the preferred 
option for Alternative 1 that  option A must be the preferred option for Alternative 2): 
 

ALTERNATIVES ON WHETHER OR NOT DISTRICT MANAGERS / EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
SHOULD HAVE A SEAT ON THE CARCD BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 (ALL MEMBERS OF THE BOARD HAVE A VOTE) 

 District Managers / Executive 
Directors Serving As Regional 
Chairs 

Three District Managers / 
Executive Directors elected to 
Board of Directors by their peers 

District Managers / Executive  
Directors have a seat on the 
CARCD Board of Directors 

DM Alternative 1A DM Alternative 2A 

District Managers / Executive  
Directors do not have a seat on 
the CARCD Board of Directors 

DM Alternative 1B DM Alternative 2B 

 
 
These concerns have been addressed in the version that we are transmitting to you today. 
Please use these attachments in your review of our working draft. We apologize for any 
inconvenience this may have caused.  
 
Attachments: 
 
August 16 Working Draft - marked up 
August 16 Working Draft - Clean 
August 16 Table 1 



Draft Bylaws Summary of Changes & Notes for RCD Discussion 

Summary of Changes/Discuss & Approve or Comment as Needed 
1. General:  Many procedures/processes/policies that appear in the 2018 bylaws have been

dropped so that an amendment to the bylaws & voting by the mbrship doesn’t have to occur
when the procedures/processes/policies need to be updated. Some wording changes were
made or sentences added to clarify (eg, dues, delegate voting, annual mtg at conference,
allowing electronic voting, duties of the Regional Chair, resolution protest).

2. Art 1, Sec 4:  Geographic regional names are ID’ed but the RCDs w/in each Region are dropped &
a process for making changes is ID’ed.

3. Art 1, Sec 4:  the sentence “Initially, RCDs are assigned to Regions as they existed in December
2024.” Is proposed to read “Initially…as they existed in the 2018 Bylaws.”  Rationale:  the
reference should tie to a legal document that can be found in the archives, not a date.

4. Art 1, Sec 5:  The FY is changed to July-June.
5. Art 1, Sec 6&7 are deleted.
6. Art II, Sec 1 (j) definition of “Resolution” is expanded as to who can propose & who can adopt a

resolution.
7. Art III is dropped.  The original wording appears more as goals of the organization; bylaws

describe the organizational structure and how decisions are made, policies define what is
allowed and not allowed, including the rules or parameters governing decision-making.

8. Art IV, Sec 1 & Art V, Sec 1:  Alternatives are proposed as to who can serve as a Regional
Chair/Vice Chair &, as a Regional Chair, who can also be a mbr of the CARCD board of directors.
HLVRCD needs to decide which alternative to submit in our response.

9. Art V, Sec 3(g):  should this be modified to move the duties of committees to Article VII so that
committee requirements isn’t mixed into board of directors powers & duties?

10. Art V, Sec 3(h):  should the board have the authority to fill officer vacancies whenever they occur
throughout the 2-yr term (current bylaws) or should the elections be held/voted by the mbrship
if the vacancy occurs w/in the first 1.5 yrs of the term (proposed)?

11. Art V, Sec 3(j):  NEW – option for the board to establish of an advisory council of non-RCD mbrs;
this is in place of dropping 3 non-RCD mbrs from the board (Art V, Sec 1).

12. Art V, Sec 5: Alternatives proposed for Exec Committee authority. HLVRCD needs to decide
which alternative to submit in our response.

13. Art VI, Sec 1:  describes a new way to conduct the annual mtg when officers are being elected &
the annual mtg isn’t held in conjunction with the conference. The section also limits officer
terms to 2 in any one position.

14. Art VI, Sec 2:  describes a new officer nomination process.
15. Art V, Sec 3(f):  drops the requirement that committee mbrs must be directors.
16. Art VII:  Mostly all revamped from current bylaws. 3 types of committees:  governance, standing,

& special; process for adding or dissolving standing committees.
17. Other items identified for discussion, comment & approval?



Bylaws of the  
California Associa3on of Resource 

Conserva3on Districts 

BYLAWS COMMITTEE  WORKING DRAFT 
JULY 2024 

Approved November 2018 

California Associa3on of  
Resource Conserva3on Districts 

1007 7th Street, #414 
801 K Street, 14th Floor 
Sacramento, CA 95814 

(916) 457-7901 
(916) 457-7904 

Web site: www.carcd.org 

These bylaws govern the acPviPes of the AssociaPon of RCDs and the Regions of CARCD.  Division 9 
of the Public Resources Code governs individual RCDs.  Other regional associaPons of RCDs may be 

governed by their own bylaws. 



Table of Contents 

Ar3cle I. General Provisions             1 
SecPon 1. Name 
SecPon 2. OrganizaPon                           
SecPon 3. Purposes            
SecPon 4. Regions      
SecPon 5. Fiscal Year   
SecPon 6. Seal 
SecPon 7. CODE 
SecPon 86. ConstrucPon of Bylaws   
SecPon 97. Amendment of Bylaws   

Ar3cle II. Defini3ons                         2 

Ar3cle III. Policies 

Ar3cle IVIII. Membership and Vo3ng        3 4 
SecPon 1. Eligibility for Membership  
SecPon 2. Dues                                      
SecPon 3. SelecPon of Delegates   
SecPon 4. VoPng 
SecPon 5. MeePngs                              
SecPon 6. Mail VoPng   
SecPon 7. Powers and DuPes                 

Ar3cle IV. Regions                                   6 
SecPon 1. Regional Chairs and Vice         
Chairs 
SecPon 2. DuPes of Regional Chairs and Vice 
Chairs 
SecPon 23. MeePngs                               
SecPon 4. Mail VoPng           

Ar3cle VI. Board of Directors           7 8 

SecPon 1. Membership                          
SecPon 2. CompensaPon                       
SecPon 3. Powers and DuPes    
SecPon 4. MeePngs                                 
SecPon 5. ExecuPve Commi^ee   

Ar3cle VII. Officers                            130  
SecPon 1. Officers                                   
SecPon 2. NominaPons                           
SecPon 3. ElecPons                                 
SecPon 4. President                                 
SecPon 5. Vice President    
SecPon 6. Secretary-Treasurer                
SecPon 7. Immediate Past President   
SecPon 8. NACD Board Member 
SecPon 9. Bond 

Ar3cle VIII. CommiRees                     152 
SecPon 1. General 
SecPon 2. Governance Commi^ees 
SecPon 13. Standing Commi^ees   
SecPon 24. Special Commi^ees  
SecPon 5. MeePngs and Reports   

Ar3cle IX Annual conference  12 
SecPon 1. Time and Place 
SecPon 2. A^endance 
SecPon 3. Program 

Ar3cle VIII. X Resolu3ons  183 
SecPon 1. Scope of ResoluPons    
SecPon 2. Regular ResoluPons   
SecPon 3. Commi^ee Review   
SecPon 4. Emergency ResoluPons   
SecPon 5. Protests                                   

                                                                                              

I



CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION OF RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICTS  

BYLAWS 

ARTICLE I.  GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Sec3on 1. Name – The name of this 
corporaPon is the California AssociaPon of 
Resource ConservaPon Districts (CARCD). 

Sec3on 2. Organiza3on – The AssociaPon is 
organized under the Nonprofit Public Benefit 
CorporaPon Law of the State of California. 

Sec3on 3. Purposes – The AssociaPon has 
the purposes for which it is authorized under 
Division 9 of the Public Resources Code of the 
State of California.  As such, the AssociaPon is 
an instrumentality of member districts in 
carrying out the natural resources and soil 
and water policies of the State of California, 
insofar as those funcPons have been 
delegated to the districts by statute.  

Sec3on 4. Regions – For the purpose of 
elecPng members of the Board of Directors of 
the AssociaPon (other than the President, 
Vice President, Secretary-Treasurer) and for 
such other purposes as may properly be 
delegated by the Board of Directors, the 
membership shall be divided into ten 
representaPve geographic Regions as follows 
listed below. IniPally, RCDs are assigned to 
Regions as they existed in December 2024. 
The Board of Directors may move an RCD to a 
new Region on the request of the RCD and 
with the concurrence of both the losing and 
gaining RCD. In moving an RCD to a new 
Region the Board of Directors shall consider 
the future viability of the losing Region and 
shall maintain geographical conPnuity of the 
Regions.  

(a) North Coast Region. –Del-Norte RCD, 
Gold Ridge RCD, Humboldt County RCD, 
Klamath-Trinity RCD (Tribal), Marin RCD, 
Mendocino County RCD, Shasta Valley 
RCD, Siskiyou County RCD, Sonoma RCD, 
and Trinity County RCD. 

(b) Modoc Plateau Region. -Central Modoc 
RCD, Fall River RCD, Goose Lake RCD, 
Honey Lake Valley RCD, Lava Beds/Bu^e 
Valley RCD, and Pit River RCD. 

(c) Central Sierra Region.– Alpine County 
RCD, Amador County RCD, Coarsegold 
RCD, El Dorado RC– Eastern Kern County 

(d) RCD, Inyo-Mono RCD, Kern Valley RCD, 
(e) Mojave Desert RCD and Tehachapi RCD.D, 

Florin RCD, Georgetown Divide RCD, 
Mariposa County RCD, Mono County 
RCD, NevadaCounty RCD, Placer County 
RCD, Sloughhouse RCD, Tahoe RCD and 
Tuolumne County RCD. 

(f) High Desert Region.– Eastern Kern 
County RCD, Inyo-Mono RCD, Kern Valley 
RCD, Mojave Desert RCD and Tehachapi 
RCD. 

(g) Southern California Baja Region.– Bard 
RCD, Coachella Valley RCD, RCD of the 
Greater San Diego County, Imperial 
IrrigaPon District RCD, Palo Verde RCD 
and Upper San Luis Rey RCD. 

(h) SoCal Inland Region. – Antelope RCD, 
E l s i n o r e - M u r r i e t a - A n z a R C D , 
In landEmpire RCD, Miss ion RCD, 
Riverside-Corona RCD, and San Jacinto 
Basin RCD, 

(i) Central Coast Region.– Cachuma RCD, 
Coastal San Luis RCD, Loma Prieta RCD, 
Monterey County RCD, RCD of the Santa 
Monica Mountains, San Benito RCD, San 
Mateo County RCD, Santa Cruz County 
RCD, Upper Salinas-Las Tablas RCD, and 
Ventura County RCD. 

(j) Bay Delta Region.– Alameda County RCD, 
Contra Costa County RCD, Dixon RCD, 
East Stanislaus RCD, Guadalupe-Coyote 
RCD, Lower Consumnes RCD, Napa 
County RCD, San Joaquin County RCD, 

1



Solano County RCD, Suisun RCD, and 
West Stanislaus RCD. 

(k) Sacramento Valley Region.– Bu^e County 
RCD, Colusa County RCD, Lake County 
RCD, Feather River RCD, Glenn County 
RCD, Sierra Valley RCD, Su^er County 
RCD, Tehama County RCD, Western 
Shasta RCD, Yolo County RCD and Yuba 
County RCD. 

(l) San Joaquin Valley Region.– Chowchilla-
Red Top RCD, Columbia RCD, East Merced 
RCD, Excelsior-Kings River RCD, Firebaugh 
RCD, Grassland RCD, GusPne-Romero 
RCD, James RCD, Los Banos RCD, Madera 
RCD, North Fork Rancheria(Tribal), North 
West Kern, Panoche RCD, Poso RCD, 
Rosedale-Rio Bravo RCD, Picayune 
Rancheria(Tribal), San Luis RCD, Sierra 
RCD, Tulare County RCD, Tulare Lake RCD, 
and Westside RCD. 

Sec3on 5. Fiscal Year – The fiscal business 
year of the AssociaPon shall commence on 
the first day of July January of each calendar 
year and shall terminate on the thirPeth 
thirty-first day of June December of the 
following same calendar year. 

SecPon 6. Seal – The AssociaPon shall have a 
common seal, which shall be a circle having 
conveniently arranged thereon the words 
“CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION OF RESOURCE 
CONSERVATION DISTRICTS, ESTABLISHED 
DECEMBER 12, 1945.” 

SecPon 7. California AssociaPon of District 
Employees (CODE) – The California 
AssociaPon of District Employees (CODE) 
shall be an affiliate of the AssociaPon, and 
shall be governed by separate bylaws. The 
objecPve of this affiliaPon is to strengthen 
the ConservaPon District program of the 
State of California by the effecPve uPlizaPon 
of the skills of the members of the CODE in 
support of the purposes and acPviPes of the 
AssociaPon and its commi^ees; to provide 
assistance, informaPon, and support to 
ConservaPon Districts, employees, and their 
governing boards; and to promote the 
professional development of ConservaPon 
Districts and their employees. 

Sec3on 86. Construc3on of Bylaws – These 
Bylaws shall be construed and applied in 
accordance with the Nonprofit Public Benefit 
CorporaPon Law of the State of California.  In 
the event of any conflict between a provision 
of these Bylaws and the Nonprofit Public 
Benefit CorporaPon Law, that provision shall 
not be given effect, but the remaining 
provisions of these Bylaws shall be applied 
without regard to the invalid provision. 

Sec3on 97. Amendment of Bylaws – These 
Bylaws may be amended by a majority vote 
of a quorum of member districts. 

ARTICLE II.  DEFINITIONS (NOTE: defini3ons 
reorder alphabe3cally)  

Sec3on 1. As used in these Bylaws: 

(a) “AssociaPon” means the California 
AssociaPon of Resource ConservaPon 
Districts. 

(b) “Board of Directors” or “Board” means 
the Board of Directors of the AssociaPon. 

(c) “Director” means a member of the Board 
of Directors. 

(d) “District” means a Resource ConservaPon 
District of the State of California. 

(e) “District director” means a director of a 
district. 

(f) “Member district” means a district that is 
a current member of the AssociaPon. 

(g) “Region” means a geographic division 
specified in SecPon 4 of ArPcle I, and also 
means the group of member districts 
comprising that geographic Region. 

(h) “Regional Chair” means the Chair of a 
Region elected by the members of that 
Region. 

(i) “Regional Vice-Chair” means the Vice 
Chair of a Region elected by the 
members of that Region. 

(j) “ResoluPon” means a document on 
AssociaPon policy or intent (1) proposed 

2



for adopPon by the general membership 
of the AssociaPon, by one or more 
districts, or by a governance or a standing 
commi^ee of the AssociaPon or (2) 
adopted by the general membership of 
the AssociaPon or (3) adopted by the 
Board of Directors under their purposes 
and powers. 

ARTICLE III. POLICIES  
Sec3on 1. Policies - The following shall be 
policies of the AssociaPon:  
(a) To encourage rural and urban landowners 
to organize to the end that all the public and 
private land of the state may eventually be 
included in self-governing Resource 
ConservaPon Districts and to encourage 
retenPon of lands presently within a district’s 
boundaries.  

(b) To inspire district directors to the full 
acceptance of the responsibiliPes of 
leadership.  

(c) To strengthen the basic American principle 
that the funcPon of government is to serve, 
not to dominate or control.  

(d) To seek public assistance for conservaPon 
work which is in the public interest and which 
land users need assistance to perform.  

(e) To seek arrangements whereby Federal, 
State, County, and City agencies may extend 
technical and other assistance to districts, 
may cooperate with districts and may uPlize 
services and faciliPes of the districts in the 
local applicaPon and administraPon of their 
respecPve program responsibiliPes.  

(f) To keep all segments of the public 
concerning the needs and achievements of 
the conservaPon programs administered by 
the districts (1) by giving informaPon to 
newspapers, magazines, and television and 
radio staPons, (2) by maintaining industry-
district cooperaPon, (3) by sponsoring Soil 
Stewardship Week, and (4) by working with 
youth groups.  

(g) To encourage and facilitate close and 
effecPve cooperaPon between the districts 
and Federal and State agencies, and between 
the districts and rural and urban local public 

agencies, and between districts and all 
private agencies that are concerned with 
conservaPon, improvement, and 
development of natural resources.  

(h) To convince all who use or manage land 
and water that America’s future well being 
depends on using each acre within its 
capabiliPes and treaPng each acre according 
to its needs for conservaPon, development 
and improvement.  

(i) To ensure that the AssociaPon rejects any 
and all parPsan poliPcal affiliaPon, and 
engages in no parPsan poliPcal acPviPes. It 
will not parPcipate or intervene in any 
poliPcal campaign on behalf of or in 
opposiPon to any candidate for any naPonal, 
state, or local elecPve public office.  

(j) To assist districts in assuming their 
appropriate responsible role in the local 
formulaPon and administraPon of specialized 
and regional resource conservaPon 
programs, such as watershed programs, 
resource conservaPon and development 
projects, river basin programs, public lands 
programs, and any other resource program  

(k) To work toward achieving the maximum 
administraPve and technical efficiency in the 
operaPons of the districts, through facilitaPng 
an interchange of advice and experience 
among the districts, and through keeping 
district directors informed of the acPviPes 
and experience of all other districts.  

(l) To parPcipate in and encourage 
coordinated resource management and 
planning to promote cooperaPon and 
efficiency in management and 
improvement of the State’s renewable 
resources.  

ARTICLE III IV.  MEMBERSHIP/VOTING 

Sec3on 1. Eligibility for Membership – Every 
district shall be eligible for membership in the 
AssociaPon. 

The Board of Directors may addiPonally 
authorize any person, firm, associaPon, or 
corporaPon to become an Associate, 

3



Sustaining, or Honorary Member of the 
AssociaPon and may, for purposes of these 
special memberships, establish a required 
annual contribuPon.  Associate, Sustaining, 
and Honorary Members shall be enPtled to 
a^end meePngs of the AssociaPon and to 
receive informaPonal publicaPons of the 
AssociaPon, but shall not have voPng rights. 

Sec3on 2. Dues – A district shall become a 
member of the AssociaPon and shall renew 
its membership by payment of annual 
AssociaPon dues, which shall be established 
and assessed by the Board of Directors. The  
Board of Directors has the discrePon to allow 
one or more districts to be a member of the 
associaPon while paying less than the 
approved annual rate provided each district  
follows requirements established in policy  to 
request such status. The AssociaPon dues 
shall be payable when billed on or aoer 
January 1 of each year, and shall become 
delinquent on July 1 of that year. Any 
member district, which fails to renew its 
membership by payment in full of its dues 
quota on or before the September 1 shall be 
stricken from the voPng membership roll. A 
district, which has lost its voPng rights in the 
AssociaPon for nonpayment of dues, may 
restore its rights by applying to the Board of 
Directors for reinstatement and by paying 
dues for the current year.  

Sec3on 3. Vo3ng – Each member district 
shall have one vote, which shall be exercised 
by a delegate represenPng the district at the 
annual meePng, at any other meePng 
wherein the general membership is 
assembled, or at any Regional meePng. At 
any meePng of the general membership a 
majority of the members shall consPtute a 
quorum for the conduct of business. All 
acPons of the members, including elecPon of 
directors and officers, shall be taken upon a 
majority vote of the members present and 
voPng.  NOTE - this sec3on renumbered as 
Sec3on 4) 

Sec3on 34. Selec3on of Delegates – Each 
member district shall select a district director 
as its delegate (and may select another 
district director as an alternate delegate) to 
represent the district in any meePng of the 
members of the AssociaPon or at any 

Regional meePng of the AssociaPon.  
Delegates and alternates shall be selected by 
vote of the district’s directors and shall serve 
for a term of one year, unless sooner 
removed by a vote of the district’s directors 
taken at a public meePng. The AssociaPon 
shall transmit an idenPfying credenPal to 
each member district in advance of any 
meePng of the general membership, for use 
by the voPng delegate of that district.  

Sec3on 43. Vo3ng – Only delegates (or 
alternate delegates acPng in the absence of a 
regular delegate) shall be enPtled to vote at 
meePngs of the general membership and 
Regional meePngs. (NOTE: This sentence 
moved without changes from Ar3cle XI, 
Sec3on 6, second to last paragraph of 
current Bylaws) Each member district shall 
have one vote, which shall be exercised by a 
delegate represenPng the district at the 
annual meePng, at any other meePng 
wherein the general membership is 
assembled, or at any Regional meePng.  At 
any meePng of the general membership a 
majority of the member districts represented 
by at least one District Director shall 
consPtute a quorum for the conduct of 
business.  All acPons of the member districts, 
including elecPon of directors and officers, 
shall be taken upon a majority vote (greater 
than 50%) of the members present and 
voPng. (NOTE: this sec3on was previously 
Sec3on 3 - changes from exis3ng Bylaws 
noted by strikeout and underline) 

No voPng by proxy or cumulaPve voPng shall 
be permi^ed at meePngs of the general 
membership or at Regional meePngs. (NOTE: 
This sentence moved without changes from 
Ar3cle XI, Sec3on 6, second to last 
paragraph of current Bylaws) 

Sec3on 5. Mee3ngs – A regular annual 
meePng of the general membership shall be 
held at the annual conference, in November 
of each year. The exact date and locaPon of 
which shall be determined by the Board of 
Directors.  If the Board determines that it is 
not pracPcal or possible to have the annual 
meePng at the conference, the President 
shall call a special meePng as described in 
ArPcle V, SecPon 1. NoPce of the annual 
meePng shall be given pursuant to this 

4



secPon not less than 60 days prior to that 
meePng by electronic mail or, if no email 
address is available, by first class mail, or 
cerPfied mail Priority Mail or other trackable 
mail service to each member district at the 
last known address of each member.  NoPce 
of the annual meePng conference shall 
specify any acPon that the Board of Directors, 
at the Pme the noPce is given, intends to 
p re s e nt fo r a c P o n b y t h e ge n e ra l 
membership, but any proper ma^er may be 
presented at the meePng for acPon of the 
members. (NOTE: This prior sentence was 
relocated from the following paragraph with  
changes noted.) The noPce of the annual 
meePng conference at which elecPon of 
officers is to occur shall also include the 
names of the persons nominated by the 
Nomination ing Commi^ee’s list of nominees 
for the offices of President, Vice President, 
and Secretary/Treasurer. (NOTE: This prior 
sentence was relocated from the following 
paragraph with the noted changes.) 

In accordance with SecPon 5510 of the 
CorporaPons Code of the State of California, 
special meePngs of the membership may be 
called by the Board of Directors, by the 
President, or upon pePPon of 5 five percent 
or more of the members the la^er of which 
requires acPon by the Boards of Directors  of 
pePPoning districts, submi^ed to the 
President.  Such a pePPon shall specify the 
general nature of the business to be 
transacted at the special meePng.  Upon 
receipt of such a pePPon, the President or 
the Board of Directors shall call a special 
meePng of the members for the transacPon 
of that business not less than 35 days nor 
more than 90 days aoer receipt of the 
pePPon.  The President or Board of Directors 
shall provide not less than 10 nor more than 
90 days noPce of the place, date, and Pme of 
each meePng of the general membership by 
electronic mail or, if no email address is 
available, by first class mail or Priority Mail or 
other trackable mail service cerPfied mail, to 
each member district at the last known 
address of each member. provided, that 
noPce of the annual conference shall be 
given pursuant to this secPon not less than 
60 days prior to that meePng.  NoPce of the 
annual conference shall specify any acPon 
that the Board of Directors, at the Pme the 

noPce is given, intends to present for acPon 
by the general membership, but any proper 
ma^er may be presented at the meePng for 
acPon of the members. (NOTE: This prior 
sentence was relocated to the paragraph 
above with changes noted.) The noPce of 
the annual conference shall also include the 
names of the persons nominated by the 
NominaPng Commi^ee for the offices of 
President and Vice President. (NOTE: The 
prior sentence was relocated to an earlier 
paragraph with noted changes.)  In the case 
of a special meePng t The noPce shall state 
the general nature of the business to be 
transacted. 

Only delegates (or alternate delegates acPng 
in the absence of a regular delegate) shall be 
enPtled to vote at meePngs of the general 
membership and Regional meePngs.  NOTE: 
This sentence moved to Ar3cle III, Sec3on  4, 
first sentence with no changes) No voPng by 
proxy or cumulaPve voPng shall be permi^ed 
at meePngs of the general membership or at 
Regional meePngs. NOTE: This sentence 
moved to Ar3cle III, Sec3on  4, last 
paragraph with no changes) 

The President of the AssociaPon, or the Vice 
President in the absence of the President, or 
the Secretary-Treasurer in the absence of 
both the President and Vice-President shall 
preside at all meePngs of the general 
membership.  Except as otherwise provided 
in these Bylaws or the Nonprofit Public 
Benefit CorporaPon Law of the State of 
California, the proceedings shall be 
conducted in accordance with applicable 
provisions of Robert’s Rules of Order. 

Sec3on 6. Mail Vo3ng  – Except as otherwise 
provided in SecPon 4 3 of ArPcle IV 5 of these 
Bylaws, any acPon which may be taken by the 
membership at any regular, special, or 
Regional meePng, including the elecPon of 
directors of officers, may also be taken 
without a meePng if the AssociaPon or 
Region, respecPvely, distributes a wri^en 
ballot by first class mail to each member 
enPtled to vote on the ma^er.  The ballot 
shall set forth the proposed acPon, provide a 
suitable means by which each member 
district may indicate its vote, and provide a 
reasonable Pme within which to return the 

5



ballot to the AssociaPon or Region, as the 
case may be. 

The mail balloPng shall be valid only if the 
number of vote’s votes cast meets the 
applicable quorum required to be present at 
a meePng.  Mail balloPng shall be conducted 
in all respects in accordance with SecPon 
5513 of the CorporaPons Code.  The 
secretary of each member district voPng by 
mail ballot shall cerPfy that the acPon 
thereon is the acPon of the Board of 
Directors of that member district. 

Sec3on 7. Powers and Du3es – The general 
membership acPng at a meePng or by mail 
voPng, in accordance with these Bylaws, shall 
have the following powers and duPes: 

(a) These Bylaws may be amended only by 
acPon of the general membership. 

(b) Delegates of member districts may place 
names in nominaPon for officers during 
elecPon years at the scheduled annual 
membership meePng. 

(c) (b)The general membership shall elect a 
President, Vice President, and Secretary-
Treasurer on odd numbered years.  The 
Immediate Past President shall serve as 
the NACD Board Member.  In the event 
the Immediate Past President cannot 
serve the Board shall appoint the 
RepresentaPve from any Board Member 
or Member RCD Director. 

(d) (c) The general membership may adopt 
resoluPons within the scope of the 
purposes and powers of the associaPon 
for implementaPon by the Board of 
Directors. 

(e) (d) The general membership may request 
reports from the Board of Directors, 
parPcular officers, and commi^ees of the 
AssociaPon, which shall be submi^ed to 
the members in such form and at such 
Pme as directed by acPon of the general 
membership. 

ARTICLE IV.  REGIONS 

Sec3on 1. Regional Chairs and Vice Chairs – 
The member districts of each Region shall 
biennially, at the Region’s regular meePng, 
elect a Regional Chair and Regional Vice 
Chair, who shall take office immediately 
following their elecPon.  Only directors of 
member districts shall be eligible to serve as 
Regional Chair and Regional Vice Chair.  

In the event that no directors of member 
districts are willing to assume the posiPon of 
Regional Chair or Regional Vice Chair, then 
the Region may elect either a District 
Manager or ExecuPve Director of a resource 
conservaPon districts that are is a member 
districts to serve as Regional Chair or 
Regional Vice Chair or both. A Regional Chair 
who is not a district director may serve on 
the CARCD board of directors but does not 
have a vote nor can they serve on the 
ExecuPve Commi^ee.   

The term of Regional Chair and Regional Vice 
Chair shall be 2 two years and they may 
succeed themselves.   

NOTE TO READER: There are two alternaPves 
related to whether District Managers /   
ExecuPve Directors of RCDs should have a 
seat on the Board of Directors. This provision 
is applicable here and in the secPon on 
Membership of the Board of Directors. 
Having a seat on the Board of Directors also 
includes the right to vote as, pursuant of CA 
Code,  all members of the Board of Directors 
are enPtled to vote that cannot be excluded. 
Each alternaPve has two opPons. OpPon A 
retains the three District Managers on the 
Board of Directors and provides that District 
Managers who are filling the Regional Chair 
role also are members of the Board of 
Directors. OpPon B of the AlternaPves 
eliminates any opportunity for District 
Managers/ExecuPve Directors to be seated 
on the Board of Directors. The alternaPve 
language is in italics. Any new language (not 
in the exisPng Bylaws is underlined. Any 
language from the exisPng Bylaws proposed 
for delePon is in strikeout. 

DM Alterna3ve 1A: 
The Regional Chair shall also serve as a 
member of the Board of Directors.  A 

6



Regional Chair who is not a District Director 
may not serve on the Execu?ve Commi@ee.   

DM Alterna3ve 1B:  
A Regional Chair or Vice Chair who is not a 
District Director may not serve on the CARCD 
board of directors. However, in the situa?on, 
where a District Manager / Execu?ve Director 
is the Regional Chair, the Regional Vice Chair, 
if a District Director, may serve as the 
Region’s representa?ve on the Board of 
Directors. 

However, a Regional Chair may not 
simultaneously serve as President, Vice 
President, Secretary-Treasurer or Immediate 
Past President.  Upon elecPon of the Regional 
Chair to such an office, the office of Regional 
Chair shall become vacant.  Any vacancy in 
the offices of Regional Chair or Regional Vice 
Chair, including removal from office as 
provided in the Nonprofit Public Benefit 
CorporaPon Law, shall be filled, for the 
remainder of the unexpired term, by a special 
elecPon of the member districts of the 
Region. 

The Bay Delta, North Coast, Sacramento 
Valley, SoCal Inland and Southern California 
Regions shall hold their elecPons during even 
years.  The Central Coast, Central Sierra, High 
Desert, Modoc Plateau and San Joaquin 
Valley Regions shall hold their elecPons 
during odd numbered years. 

Each Region’s elecPons shall provide a 
reasonable opportunity for (1) the making of 
nominaPons at the regular Regional meePng 
at which the elecPon will be held, (2) 
communicaPng to the delegates of the 
Region’s Member Districts the nominee’s 
qualificaPons and the reasons for the 
nominee’s candidacy, and (3) all nominees to 
solicit votes. In the event of a vacancy in the 
office of Regional Chair, or when the Regional 
Chair is unable to act due to absence from 
the State due to disability, or any other 
substanPal reason, the Regional Vice Chair 
shall temporarily assume the duPes of the 
Regional Chair unPl the vacancy is filled or 
the Regional Chair resumes his or her duPes; 
provided, that the Regional Vice Chair shall 
serve as a non-voPng member of the Board 
of Directors during such period.  

Any vacancy in the office of Regional Chair or 
Regional Vice Chair occasioned by death, 
resignaPon, removal, disqualificaPon, or 
otherwise shall be filled for the remainder of 
the term by the Region at a special elecPon, 
which shall be conducted in the same 
manner as a regular elecPon of the Region, 
upon the call of the Chair or Vice Chair 
remaining in office or upon the call of the 
Board of Directors.  

Sec3on 2. Du3es of Regional Chairs and Vice 
Chairs - Each Regional Chair will ensure the 
scheduling of up to two Regional regular 
annual meePngs, serve as a member of the 
CARCD Board of Directors, act as the liaison 
between the Regional RCDs and CARCD 
Board of Directors, assist the President or 
commi^ee chairperson with any projects, 
and act as a liaison to other organizaPons in 
order to promote CARCD. Each Vice-Chair will 
exercise all the funcPons of the Regional 
Chair in absence of or disabling of the 
Regional Chair including voPng at the  CARCD 
Board of Directors meePng. 

Sec3on 23. MeePngs – Each Region shall 
annually have at least one regular meePng.  
Regional meePngs shall be called by the 
Regional Chair or by the Board of Directors, 
who shall provide not less than 10 nor more 
than 90 30 calendar days’ noPce of the place, 
date, and Pme of each Region meePng by 
electronic mail. In the event that email is not 
available for each district, first class or 
cerPfied mail, Priority Mail or other trackable 
mail service may be used.  to each 
member ;provided, that noPce of the annual 
Region meePng shall be given pursuant to 
this secPon not less than 21 days prior to that 
meePng.  

One district shall consPtute a quorum for the 
transacPon of business at a Regional 
meePng, and acPon shall be taken by a 
majority of the Region members present and 
voPng.  However, unless at least one-third of 
the member districts in the Region are in 
a^endance at a regular Regional meePng, the 
only ma^ers which may be voted on are 
those ma^ers the general nature of which 
was specified in the noPce of the meePng.  
The Regional Chair or, in the absence of the 

7



Regional Chair, the Regional Vice Chair shall 
preside over Regional meePngs. Except as 
otherwise provided in these Bylaws or the 
Nonprofit Public Benefit CorporaPon Law of 
the State of California, the proceedings shall 
be conducted in accordance with applicable 
provisions of Robert’s Rules of Order. 

Sec3on 34. Mail Vo3ng – Mail voPng by 
Regions shall be permi^ed, except with 
respect to biennial, regular Region elecPons, 
in accordance with secPon 6 or ArPcle IVIII of 
these Bylaws. 

ARTICLE V. BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

NOTE TO READER: There are two alternaPves 
related to whether District Managers should 
have a seat on the Board of Directors. Having 
a seat on the Board of Directors also includes 
the right to vote as, pursuant to CA Code,  all 
members of the Board of Directors are 
enPtled to vote. AlternaPve 1 addresses the 
three District Managers/ExecuPve directors 
who are elected by their peers and, pursuant 
to the current Bylaws, are members of the 
Board of Directors. AlternaPve 2 addresses 
the situaPon where a District Manager/
ExecuPve Director is serving as the Regional 
Chair and, pursuant to the current Bylaws 
they can serve on the Board of Directors but 
are not enPtled to a vote. Each alternaPve 
has two opPons. OpPon A retains the three 
District Managers on the Board of Directors 
and provides that District Managers who are 
filling the Regional Chair role also are 
members of the Board of Directors. OpPon B 
o f t h e A l te r n aP ve s e l i m i n ate s a ny 
opportunity for District Managers to be part 
of the Board of Directors. The alternaPve 
language in in italics. Any new language (not 
in the exisPng Bylaws is underlined. Any 
language from the exisPng Bylaws proposed 
for delePon is in strikeout.  

Sec3on 1. Membership – The Board shall 
consist of the Regional Chairs from each of 
the regions, the President, the Vice President, 
the Secretary-Treasurer, Immediate Past 
President, (NOTE: The provision that the 
immediate past president be a member of 
the Board of Directors was relocated from 
the exis3ng Bylaws last paragraph of this 
sec3on) NACD Board Member (if this posiPon 

is not filled by a Board Member represenPng 
another Board posiPon), up to three ex 
officio members who are not affiliated with 
any RCD,  

DM Alterna3ve 2A: and up to three members 
who are either District Managers or Execu?ve 
Directors of member resource conserva?on 
districts that are member districts.  

The three District Managers or Execu?ve 
Directors shall be nominated and elected by 
their peers represen?ng member districts at 
the annual mee?ng. The President shall 
recommend and the Board of Directors shall 
appoint a nomina?ng commi@ee consis?ng of 
District Managers/Execu?ve Directors. The 
elected District Managers/Execu?ve Directors 
shall have one representa?ve from the 
following three regions areas of the state 
(Northern, Central or Southern). 

DM Alterna3ve 2B: and up to three members 
who are either District Managers or Execu?ve 
Directors of resource conserva?on districts 
that are member districts. 
  
The three ex officio members shall be 
appointed by the President and approved by 
the Board of Directors for two-year terms 
from the Pme of approval. 

The three District Managers or Execu?ve 
Directors shall be nominated and elected by 
their peers represen?ng member districts at 
the annual mee?ng. The President shall 
recommend and the Board of Directors shall 
appoint a nomina?ng commi@ee consis?ng of 
District Managers/Execu?ve Directors. The 
elected District Managers/Execu?ve Directors 
shall have one representa?ve from the 
following three regions areas of the state 
(Northern, Central or Southern).  

Nothing in these Bylaws precludes an officer 
or another Board Member from serving as 
the NACD Board Member; however, if this 
individual is also the NACD Board Member, 
this Board Member shall have only one vote. 
The NACD Board member shall be filled by a 
District Director in the following priority 
order:  President, Immediate Past President, 
Vice President. If none of these individuals 
are willing to be the NACD Board Member, 

8



then the Board shall select by vote other 
Board member who is a District Director, or 
by solicitaPon of a District Director of a 
member district.  

DM Alterna3ve 1A  and 2A con3nua3on: 
All Directors of the Associa?on shall be 
District Directors of Member Districts, except 
the three District Managers/Execu?ve 
Directors and any District Manager/Execu?ve 
Director serving as a Regional Chair. 

DM Alterna3ve 1A  and 2B con3nua3on: 
All Directors of the Associa?on shall be 
District Directors of Member Districts, except 
the three District Managers/Execu?ve 
Directors.  

DM Alterna3ve 1B and 2A con3nua3on: 
All Directors of the Associa?on shall be 
District Directors of Member Districts, except  
District Managers/Execu?ve Directors who 
are serving as Regional Chairs. 

DM Alterna3ve 1B and 2B con3nua3on: 
All Directors of the Associa?on shall be 
District Directors of Member Districts. 

Only one individual from any member district 
may be on the Board of Directors. However, 
Officers are not subject to this provision. The 
Immediate Past President shall serve as a 
board member. (NOTE: The provision cited in 
the above sentence was relocated to the 
first paragraph  of this sec3on.) The Past 
President of California AssociaPon of District 
Employees shall serve as ex-officio member 
of the Board.  The President or, in the 
President’s absence, the Vice President or 
Secretary-Treasurer shall preside at meePngs 
of the Board. 

Sec3on 2. Compensa3on – The Directors 
shall serve without compensaPon, but shall 
be enPtled to reasonable reimbursement for 
travel and other expenses incurred in 
connecPon with their official duPes.  The 
Board shall establish procedures for 
authorizaPon of these expenses, which shall 
require prior authorizaPon as a condiPon for 
reimbursement and copies of receipts. The 
Board may delegate this funcPon to the 
President under procedures established by 
the Board. 

Sec3on 3. Powers and Du3es – The Board of 
Directors shall have the following powers and 
duPes: 

(a) The Board shall manage the affairs of the 
AssociaPon consistent with the powers 
and purposes of the AssociaPon, the 
provisions of these Bylaws, and policies 
established by resoluPon of the general 
membership. 

(b) The Board shall define and establish 
p o l i c i e s a n d p ro c e d u re s o f t h e 
Assoc iaPon, which sha l l not be 
inconsistent with policies established by 
resoluPon of the general membership. 

(c) The Board shall review and approve an 
annual budget for the AssociaPon, fix the 
rate of compensaPon of AssociaPon 
ExecuPve Director employees, authorize 
the payment of necessary expenses of 
the AssociaPon, arrange for an annual 
audit of the AssociaPon's financial affairs 
by a qualified accountant or accounPng 
firm, and provide each Member District 
with a copy of an annual report not later 
than 120 days aoer the close of each 
fiscal year of the AssociaPon by making it 
available on the AssociaPon’s website.  
The annual report shall contain in 
appropriate detail (1) the assets and 
liabiliPes of the AssociaPon as of the end 
of the fiscal year, (2) the principal 
changes in assets and liabiliPes during 
the fiscal year, (3) the revenue or receipts 
of the AssociaPon corporaPon, both 
unrestricted and restricted to parPcular 
purposes, for the fiscal year, (4) the 
expenses or disbursements of the 
AssociaPon, for both general and 
restricted purposes, during the fiscal 
year, and (5) any other informaPon 
required by SecPon 6321 of the 
CorporaPons Code of the State of 
California. 

(d) The Board shall establish a policy 
determine ma^ers relaPng to any all 
external communicaPons publicaPons of 
the AssociaPon. 

9



(e) The Board shall provide guidance and 
assistance to the Regional Chairs in 
developing and effectuaPng plans and 
programs for improving the effecPveness 
of Districts within the Region. 

(f) The Board may appoint commi^ees of 
Directors to assist in the conduct of the 
business of the AssociaPon and shall 
approve the charter of each standing 
commi^ee.  These commi^ees may 
exercise the authority of the Board as to 
ma^ers delegated by resoluPon of the 
Board.  However, no commi^ee of the 
Board may act as to those ma^ers 
specified in SecPon 5 in which the 
ExecuPve Commi^ee may not act.  The 
Board may appoint one or more Directors 
as alternate members of any commi^ee 
of the Board, other than the ExecuPve 
commi^ee, who may replace any absent 
member at any meePng o f the 
commi^ee. 

(g) The Board shall keep ensure the Member 
Districts of the AssociaPon kept currently 
informed of the AssociaPon’s affairs and 
a c P v i P e s , a n d o f p r o g r a m s , 
accomplishments, and problems of the 
districts. The meePng noPces and 
agendas for the Board and all commi^ee 
meePngs shall be posted in the 
AssociaPon website in advance of 
meePngs. AddiPonally, the minutes of all 
meePngs of the Board and all commi^ees 
shall be posted on the AssociaPon 
website. 

(h) The Board may fill any and all vacancies 
in the office of President, Vice President, 
or Secretary-Treasurer, or Immediate Past 
President for the remainder of the 
unexpired term if such vacancy occurs 
aoer June 1 in the year in which elecPons 
for the office is to occur.  The general 
membership may, by elecPon, select a 
successor to fill such a vacancy that 
occurs prior to the Pme aoer which the 
Board of Directors has authority to fill the 
vacancy. for which the Board has not 
appointed the successor. 

(i) The Board may delegate the performance 
of funcPons and duPes to the President 

or other appropr iate officers or 
employees of the AssociaPon; provided 
that the acPviPes of the AssociaPon shall 
be managed and all corporate powers 
shall be exercised under the ulPmate 
direcPon of the Board.  Nothing in this 
subsecPon authorizes the Board to 
delegate authority to enter contracts on 
behalf of the AssociaPon unless the 
Board or the ExecuPve Commi^ee has 
previously approved the substance of the 
contract ( inc luding any financia l 
obligaPons). 

(j) The Board may establish an advisory 
council or individuals not associated with 
any RCD to advise the Board on any 
ma^er within the scope of its authority. 
The Vice President shall be the chair of 
the  council.  

Sec3on 4. Mee3ngs – The Board shall meet 
during the annual conference and shall 
annually hold at least one two addiPonal 
regular meePng at such Pmes and places as 
the Board shall determine.  The President 
may call special meePngs of the Board and 
who shall call a special meePng if requested 
in wriPng by the Vice President, Secretary-
Treasurer, or any two Directors.  AddiPonally, 
the President shall call a special meePng 
pursuant to the provisions specified for the 
Board of Directors to review any acPon of the 
ExecuPve Commi^ee.  Special meePngs shall 
require at least 10 five days noPce by first-
class mail, personal delivery, or electronic 
means to each Director. 

A majority of the Board shall consPtute a 
quorum at all meePngs.  A majority of the 
Directors present at a meePng at which there 
is a quorum shall be required for all acPons of 
the Board, except that approval of a majority 
of all Directors of the Board shall be required 
for appointment of commi^ees of the board, 
acPons with respect to self-deal ing 
transacPons under SecPon 5233 of the 
CorporaPons Code and approval of contracts 
with corporaPons having mutual directors 
under SecPon 5234 of the corporaPons Code.  
Approval of a majority vote of a quorum of 
Directors who are not parPes to a proceeding 
for which a corporate agent seeks 

10



indemnificaPon shall be required in order to 
authorize that indemnificaPon pursuant to 
SecPon 5235 of the CorporaPons Code. 

A meePng of the Board at which a quorum is 
iniPally present may conPnue to transact 
business, notwithstanding the withdrawal of 
directors, if any acPon taken is approved by 
at least a majority of the required quorum for 
that meePng, except where the approval of a 
greater number of Directors is required by 
these Bylaws. 

Members of the Board may parPcipate in a 
meePng through use of conference 
telephone or similar communicaPons 
equipment, any electronic means, so long as 
all members parPcipaPng in the meePng can 
hear one another can acPvely parPcipate and 
vote in the meePng. 

Directors so parPcipaPng by telephone or 
other communicaPons equipment any 
electronic means shall be deemed to be 
present at the meePng of the Board and to 
determine a quorum. 

Any acPon required or permi^ed, to be taken 
by the Board of Directors may be taken by 
electronic means without a meePng if all a 
majority of members of the Board, 
individually or collecPvely, consent in wriPng, 
which includes electronic transmission to the 
taking of that acPon.  In this instance, the 
members of the Board of Directors shall be 
given adequate Pme and noPce to submit 
comments and quesPons on the proposed 
acPon prior to a vote being considered.  The 
wri^en consent or consents shall be filed in 
the book of minutes of the Board’s 
proceedings. 

All provisions of this secPon respecPng 
noPce, meePngs, and acPons of the Board 
shall apply analogously to commi^ees of the 
Board, including the ExecuPve Commi^ee.  
However, the commi^ee Chair shall be 
responsible for providing noPce, and shall 
have authority and duPes with respect to 
meePngs of the commi^ee analogous to 
those of the President with respect to 
meePngs of the Board. 

The CARCD ExecuPve Director or delegated 
staff person shall serve as non-voPng staff to 
the Board. 

Sec3on 5. Execu3ve CommiRee – There shall 
be an ExecuPve Commi^ee of the Board 
consisPng of the President, Vice President, 
Secretary-Treasurer, NACD Board Member, 
Immediate Past President, and two Regional 
Chair elected by the Regional Chairs. and the 
CARCD ExecuPve Director ,  and tThe CARCD 
ExecuPve Director shall serve as non-voPng 
staff to the ExecuPve Commi^ee. Except as 
herein provided, the ExecuPve Commi^ee 
shall have the same authority as the Board to 
act when the Board is not in session. (NOTE: 
This prior sentence has been relocated to 
the first sentence under Ex Com Alterna3ve 
1 in this sec3on.) The ExecuPve Commi^ee 
shall meet upon the call of the President, 
who shall serve as Chair of the ExecuPve 
Commi^ee.  NoPce of meePngs of the 
ExecuPve Commi^ee shall be provided to 
members thereof in the same manner as 
specified in these Bylaws for noPce of special 
meePngs of the Board. 

Any three four members of the ExecuPve 
Commi^ee shall consPtute a quorum for the 
conduct of business.  All acPons of the 
ExecuPve Commi^ee shall be reported to the 
full Board within 60 two business days.  The 
minutes of all meePngs of the execuPve 
Commi^ee shall be filed in the Board’s Book 
of Minutes. 

NOTE TO READER: The following two 
alternaPves address the authority of the 
ExecuPve Commi^ee. The enPre alternaPve 
language is in italics. New language (not in 
the exisPng Bylaws) is underlined while 
language from the exiPng Bylaws being 
proposed for delePon is in strikeout. If 
wording is neither underlined nor in 
strikeout, it is language from the exisPng 
Bylaws.  

Ex Com Alterna.ve 1: Execu.ve Commi5ee 
authority: 
Except as herein provided, the Execu?ve 
Commi@ee shall have the same authority as 
the Board to act when the Board is not in 
session. (NOTE: This prior sentence  was 

11



relocated from the first paragraph of this   
sec.on.) In considering whether to take 
ac?on, the Execu?ve Commi@ee shall 
consider the poten?al controversy regarding 
the ac?on and whether it is ?me sensi?ve or 
whether the decision can wait for the next 
regularly scheduled mee?ng or special 
mee?ng of the Board of Directors. 

The Execu?ve Commi@ee shall have no power 
to: amend or repeal any resolu?on of the 
Board which, by its express terms, cannot be 
amended or repealed by the Execu?ve 
Commi@ee; Then Execu?ve Commi@ee shall  
no take ac?on contrary to direc?ves or 
policies of the Board or the gGeneral 
membership; The Execu?ve Commi@ee shall 
not authorize expenditures or enter into 
contracts except pursuant to policies and 
procedures prescribed by the Board; The 
ExecuPve Commi^ee shall have no power to 
fill vacancies on the Board, the ExecuPve 
Commi^ee, or any other Commi^ee of the 
Board or to create or appoint members to 
any commi^ee of the Board; The ExecuPve 
Commi^ee shall have no power to or approve 
any self-dealing transacPon subject to SecPon 
5233 of the CorporaPons Code, except as 
permi^ed by the SecPon 5212 of the 
CorporaPons Code.  The Board may disaffirm 
any prior ac?on of the Execu?ve Commi@ee, 
except valid and binding contracts entered 
into by the Execu?ve cCommi@ee (or the 
President ac?ng at the direc?on of the 
Execu?ve Commi@ee) in accordance with the 
policies and procedures adopted by the 
Board.  Any two members of the Board of 
Directors may, within 10 days of receiving the 
minutes of an Execu?ve Commi@ee mee?ng, 
call for a special mee?ng of the Board of 
Directors. The President shall call a special 
mee?ng of the Board of Directors to be held 
within seven days of the request to consider 
disaffirming the ac?on of the Execu?ve 
Commi@ee.  

Ex Com Alterna.ve 2: Execu.ve Commi5ee 
authority: 
The Execu?ve Commi@ee shall have the 
following powers and du?es: 
(a) Personnel.  Subject to the budget adopted 

by the Board of Directors, the ExecuPve 
Commi@ee shall perform the following 
personnel ac?ons: (1) recommend 

compensa?on for the Execu?ve Director 
to the Board of Directors for approval; (2) 
perform annual reviews of the Execu?ve 
Director and submit that review to the 
Board of Directors; (3) review and 
a p p r o v e t h e c l a s s i fi c a ? o n a n d 
compensa?on plan and publicly posted 
salary schedule for CARCD employees 
submi@ed by the Execu?ve Director, 
which shall be reviewable by the Board of 
Directors in closed session upon request 
of the Board of Directors; (4) establish 
personnel policies for the conduct and 
behavior of employees, which shall be 
reviewable by the Board of Directors; and 
(5) undertake such other personnel 
ac?ons as may be requested by the 
Execu?ve Director in support of Execu?ve 
Director oversight of all other personnel 
ma@ers, which shall be reviewable by the 
Board of Directors in closed session upon 
request of the Board of Directors. 

(b) Delega?on.  The Execu?ve Commi@ee 
may act pursuant to any authority 
specifically delegated to it by the Board of 
Directors. The delega?on shall indicate 
whether the authority is s?ll subject to 
the ul?mate authority of the Board. 

(c) Authority to Act Between Mee?ngs.  The 
Execu?ve Commi@ee may act for the 
Board of Directors between Board 
mee?ngs when calling a special mee?ng 
of the Board of Directors is imprac?cable, 
provided that no such ac?on of the 
Execu?ve Commi@ee shall be binding on 
the Board of Directors un?l authorized or 
approved by the Board. 

(d) Repor?ng.  The President, or any person 
designated by the President, shall report 
to the Board of Directors, at each regular 
Board mee?ng, any ac?on taken by the 
Execu?ve Commi@ee since the last 
preceding regular Board mee?ng. The 
minutes o f Execu?ve Commi@ee 
mee?ngs, which at that ?me may s?ll be 
in dra] form, shall be distributed to each 
member of the Board of Directors at least 
five days prior to Board mee?ngs. 

(e) Mee?ngs. The Execu?ve Commi@ee 
shall hold regularly scheduled 

12



mee?ngs as set by the President.  
Special mee?ngs of the Execu?ve 
Commi@ee may be called by the 
Pres ident upon no?ce to the 
members of that Commi@ee or upon 
wri@en request of three Execu?ve 
Commi@ee members.  No?ce for 
s p e c i a l E x e c u ? v e C o m m i @ e e 
mee?ngs shall be provided to the 
en?re Board: (1) upon five days’ 
wri@en no?ce sent by mail, or (2) 
upon 48 hours no?ce with no?ce 
provided by electronic means.  Any 
mee?ng, regular or special, may be 
held in person or by telephone or 
electronic transmission and may be 
a@ended by any Board member.  
Mee?ngs of the Execu?ve Commi@ee 
may be closed to others at the 
discre?on of the President or 
Commi@ee. Only members of the 
Execu?ve Commi@ee are allowed to 
vote on ma@ers at a mee?ng of the 
Commi@ee. 

(f) Minutes. The minutes of the 
Execu?ve Commi@ee mee?ngs shall 
be kept by the Execu?ve Director at 
CARCD’s principal office.  Ac?ons of 
the Execu?ve Commi@ee shall be 
available to any member of the Board 
of Directors upon request to the 
Execu?ve Director. 

ARTICLE VI.  OFFICERS 

Sec3on 1. Officers – The officers of the 
AssociaPon shall be President, Vice President, 
Secretary-Treasurer, and Immediate Past 
President.  The officers, excepPng the 
Immediate Past President, shall be elected by 
the General membership during a meePng 
held at the odd numbered years at the 
associaPon’s annual conference from among 
nominaPons submi^ed as provided in SecPon 
2 of this ArPcle.  

If a meePng of the General membership does 
not occur at the annual conference for any 
reason, the President shall call a special 
meePng of the General membership to take 
place no later than 60 days aoer the close of 
the annual conference during which the 
annual meePng to elect officers that was not 
held.  If a quorum is not present at this 

special meePng, the President shall call 
another special meePng within 30 days of the 
meePng at which a quorum was not present. 
In this instance, the Board of Directors shall 
provide noPce to all Member Districts of the 
decision to proceed by mail ballot and shall 
provide 40 days from such noPce to allow 
Member Districts to put forth nominaPons 
cerPfied by the Secretary of the District as 
being an acPon of the District. The ballot 
containing the names of those nominated by 
the NominaPon Commi^ee and by Member 
District shall be sent to all Member Districts 
pursuant to the mail voPng provisions. of 
these Bylaws. 

An individual can serve no more than two 
consecuPve full terms in a single officer 
posiPon.  

Only dDistrict Directors of Member Districts 
shall be eligible to serve as officers of the 
AssociaPon.  The officers of the AssociaPon 
shall serve a term of two years and may 
succeed themselves.  If a meePng of the 
General Membership does not occur at the 
annual conference, the officers from the prior 
two years shall conPnue to serve unPl 
elecPons are held at a special meePng of the 
membership or by mail voPng.  Except as 
authorized by resoluPon of the general 
membership of the officers shall serve 
without compensaPon, but shall be enPtled 
to reimbursement for expenses as provided 
for members of the Board of Directors. 

Sec3on 2. Nomina3ons – The Board shall, no 
later than March 31st in the year in which 
elecPons of officers is to be held, appoint a 
NominaPng Commi^ee consisPng of District 
Directors who are on the Board of Directors, 
the size and membership of which, shall be 
determined by the Board.  Any district 
director of a Member District shall be eligible 
for membership on the NominaPon  
Commi^ee.  

The NominaPng Commi^ee shall noPfy the 
Member Districts that it is seeking nominees 
for all officer posiPons and shall request a 
candidate statement for each potenPal 
nominee. The NominaPng Commi^ee may  
independently solicit nominees. The 
NominaPng Commi^ee shall review the 

13



potenPal nominees, including any incumbent 
officers who seek reelecPon, to determine 
which potenPal nominees will be part of its 
s late of nominees. The NominaPng 
Commi^ee shall nominate one or more 
potenPal nominees for each officer posiPon.  
The NominaPng Commi^ee may not 
nominate a member of the Commi^ee. 

Each incumbent officer shall noPfy the 
NominaPon Commi^ee whether that officer 
intends to seek reelecPon.  In the event the 
President does not intend to seek reelecPon, 
the Vice President shal l noPfy the 
NominaPng Commi^ee whether the Vice 
President will seek elecPon as President.  All 
officers seeking reelecPon shall be the 
nominees of the NominaPon Commi^ee, and 
Vice President shall be the nominee of the 
NominaPng Commi^ee for President if the 
Vice President seeks elecPon as President 
and the incumbent President does not seek 
reelecPon. 

The Board shall schedule a meePng of the 
general membership on one of the first two 
days of the annual conference for the 
purpose of nominaPng officers.  The Chair of 
the NominaPng Commi^ee and delegates of 
member districts shall at that Pme place 
names in nominaPon.  Immediately upon 
complePon of nominaPons, each nominee 
shall be given an opportunity to address the 
general membership concerning the 
nominee’s qualificaPons and the reasons for 
the nominee’s candidacy.  NominaPons shall 
occur as specified above during a special 
meePng of the General membership to elect 
officers. 

ElecPons for officers shall not be held on the 
same day as nominaPons.  This provision 
shall not apply to elecPon of officers at a 
special meePng of the General membership, 
whether held in person or by electronic 
means. 

Sec3on 3. Elec3ons – Officers shall be 
elected by majority vote of the member 
districts present and voPng at the annual 
General membership meePng or a special 
meePng of the General membership.  If no 
candidate receives a majority vote, the two 

candidates with the highest number of votes 
shall parPcipate in a runoff elecPon.   

ElecPons shall use typed or printed ballots 
upon which the names of all officer nominees 
appear; except that handwri^en ballots, 
including electronic ballots, may be used for 
runoff elecPons.  There shall be no write-in 
candidates. 

One ballot shall be provided to the delegate 
of each member district and the name of the 
member district voPng shall be wri^en on 
the ballot.  No ballot shall be counted which 
does not indicate the name of the member 
district voPng. 

The Board may appoint one or three 
Inspectors of ElecPon. If Inspectors of 
ElecPon are not so appointed or fail or refuse 
to serve, the President may appoint the 
Inspector or Inspectors of ElecPon at the 
annual conference.  The Inspectors of 
ElecPon shall determine what member 
districts are represented at the annual 
conference meePng or special meePng at 
which elecPons of officers is to occur and 
whether a quorum exists.  The Inspectors of 
ElecPon shall distribute and receive all 
ballots, shall hear and determine all 
challenges and quesPons in any way arising in 
connecPon with the right to vote, count and 
tabulate all votes, and shall do such acts as 
may be proper to conduct the elecPon with 
fairness to all members.  The winners of the 
elecPon shall be declared and cerPfied in 
wriPng by the Inspectors of ElecPon. If there 
are three inspectors of ElecPon, the decision, 
act, or cerPficate of all. The ballots shall be 
retained for the length of Pme specified by 
the board and may be inspected by any 
district director of a member district. 

Sec3on 4. President – The President is the 
general manager and chief execuPve officer 
of the AssociaPon. The President shall serve 
as Chair of the Board of Directors and of the 
ExecuPve Commi^ee and shall preside at the 
annual conference and other meePngs of the 
general membership.  Within the authority 
delegated by the Board, the President shall 
have general supervision of the business 
affairs of the AssociaPon.  The President shall 
execute all contracts, deeds, bonds, and 

14



other instruments in wriPng authorized by 
the Board unless the board delegates some 
or all of the authority to the AssociaPon 
ExecuPve Director. 

Sec3on 5. Vice President – The Vice 
President shall exercise all the funcPons of 
the President in absence or disability of the 
President.  In the absence of the President, 
may execute all contracts, deeds, bonds, and 
other instruments in wriPng as authorized by 
the Board. The Vice President shall assume 
the office of the President upon the vacancy 
of that office and shall temporarily assume 
the office of Secretary-Treasurer upon the 
vacancy of that office unPl the posiPon is 
filled while sPll retaining the office of Vice 
President.  

Sec3on 6. Secretary-Treasurer – The 
Secretary-Treasurer is the chief financial 
officer of the AssociaPon.  The Secretary-
Treasurer shall provide guidance to, and 
define procedures for, the staff to ensure the 
collecPon of dues and other funds payable or 
owed to the AssociaPon.  When authorized 
by the Board, the Secretary-Treasurer shall 
execute or endorse, on behalf of the 
AssociaPon, all checks, notes, or other 
obligaPons. The Secretary-Treasurer shall 
ensure the deposit of the funds of the 
AssociaPon in one or more financial 
insPtuPons. The Secretary-Treasurer shall 
develop an annual budget for review and 
approval by the Board. If the Board appoints 
a Finance Commi^ee to oversee the fiscal 
affairs of the AssociaPon, the Secretary-
Treasurer shall serve as Chair of the Finance 
Commi^ee.  

As directed by the Board, the Secretary-
Treasurer shall provide for the development 
of a financial statement of the AssociaPon 
cash accounts, securiPes, and other property 
and shall ensure that there are regularly kept 
books for this purpose. The books shall 
reflect an accurate account of all money 
received and paid, together with all business 
transacPons.  

The Secretary-Treasurer shall perform such 
other duPes as are incidental to office of the 
chief financial officer of a nonprofit benefit 

corporaPon under the laws of the State of 
California. 

Sec3on 7. Immediate Past President -- The 
Immediate Past President shall represent the 
AssociaPon on the Board of the NaPonal 
AssociaPon of ConservaPon Districts if the 
President does not wish to serve in this 
capacity and shall serve on the CARCD board 
to assist the elected officers.  This posiPon 
will report on the acPviPes of the NACD to 
the membership and will assure that this 
organizaPon policies and resource needed 
are reflected in the naPonal agenda. (NOTE: 
this sentence relocated to Sec3on 8 below) 

Sec3on 8. NACD Board Member – The NACD 
Board Member This posiPon will report on 
the acPviPes of the NACD to the membership 
and will assure that this organizaPon’s 
policies and resource needs are reflected in 
the naPonal agenda. (NOTE: This sentence 
relocated from Sec3on 7 above with no 
changes) 

Sec3on 89. Bond – As directed by the Board, 
the President, Secretary-Treasurer, and the 
employees of the AssociaPon whose duPes 
include the handling of AssociaPon funds 
shall be bonded. 

ARTICLE VIII.  COMMITTEES 

Sec3on 1. General – All acPons of any 
commi^ee of the AssociaPon shall be 
governed by and taken in accordance with 
the provisions of these Bylaws. Al l 
commi^ees shall serve at the pleasure of the 
Board and all members shall be appointed by 
the Board. The following three types of 
commi^ees may be established by the Board 
of Directors as provided in ArPcle V, SecPon 
3(f). Except for special commi^ees, these 
commi^ees may exercise the authority of the 
Board as to ma^ers delegated by resoluPon 
of the Board or as otherwise included in 
these Bylaws. 

Sec3on 2. Governance CommiRees – As 
permanent commi^ees of the Board, the 
governance commi^ees serve as the main 
resource on governance of the Board and 
AssociaPon, support Board effecPveness, and 
ass ist the Board in execuPng their 

15



responsibiliPes. There shall be the following 
governance commi^ees:  

a. ExecuPve Commi^ee – whose 
authority, membership and duPes are 
specified in ArPcle V, SecPon 5. 

b. LegislaPve Commi^ee - which is 
responsible for prioriPzing and 
managing all legislaPve issues that 
may affect RCDs and the AssociaPon. 
Members of the commi^ee may 
include up to 15 members of which 
at least three (3) shall be district 
directors and the remaining members 
may be district directors or district 
staff. RCD members are not required 
to be from Member districts. 
Members serve 3-year terms, with 
the iniPal members serving staggered 
terms as determined by the Board 
and may be reappointed for 
consecuPve terms. The President 
shall appoint the commi^ee chair 
and vice chair of which one of these 
posiPons shall be filled with a district 
director from a Member district. The 
AssociaPon’s legislaPve consultant 
should parPcipate in commi^ee 
meePngs as a non-voPng member. 

c. Po l i c y C o m m i ^e e - w h i c h i s 
responsible for prioriPzing and 
managing all AssociaPon internal 
operaPonal policy issues that may 
affect RCDs and the AssociaPon, 
including but not limited to reviewing 
and making recommendaPons on 
proposed resoluPons or protests at 
the annual meePng as authorized in 
ArPc le V I I I . Members of the 
commi^ee may include up to one 
p e r s o n f r o m e a c h s t a n d i n g 
commi^ee, an AssociaPon board 
member, an ExecuPve Commi^ee 
member, and five (5) at-large 
members for a total of no more than 
14 members. Members serve 3-year 
terms, with the iniPal members 
s e r v i n g s t a g g e r e d t e r m s a s 
determined by the Board and may be 
reappointed for consecuPve terms. 
The President shall appoint the 
commi^ee chair and vice chair, of 

which one of these posiPons shall be 
filled with a district director from a 
Member district.  

d. Finance Commi^ee – whose duPes 
are to oversee the fiscal affairs of the 
AssociaPon. The Secretary-Treasurer 
of the Board of Directors shall serve 
as commi^ee chair.  The commi^ee 
shall consist of up to five (5) 
members, including the Secretary-
Treasurer, a second AssociaPon board 
member, and any other perPnent 
individuals deemed appropriate. The 
AssociaPon ExecuPve Director or 
their delegate shall serve as a non-
voPng member of the commi^ee. 
Members serve 3-year terms, with 
the iniPal members serving staggered 
terms as determined by the Board 
and may be reappointed for 
consecuPve terms. 

e. NominaPng/Inspectors of ElecPon 
Commi^ee – whose duPes and 
membership are specified in ArPcle 
VI, SecPons 2 and 3, respecPvely.  
AddiPonally, the commi^ee is to 
inform the general membership of 
any officer vacancies during an 
elecPon year. Members are district 
directors currently serving on the 
Board of Directors, serve a two-year 
term during an elecPon year and the 
year following an elecPon year, and 
may be reappointed for consecuPve 
terms. The President shall appoint 
the commi^ee chair and vice chair.   

Sec3on 31. Standing CommiRees – Standing 
commi^ees are long-term commi^ees of the 
Board which may be established that 
specialize in the consideraPon of parPcular 
subject areas that are in alignment with 
Division 9 of the Public Resources Code of 
California and RCD core funcPons and to 
make recommendaPons for consideraPon by 
the Board. 

– There shall be a NominaPng Commi^ee, 
which meets once yearly and whose duPes 
are specified in ArPcle 7, SecPon 2.  

16



There shall be the following three issue based 
commi^ees for the purposes provided in 
these Bylaws:  
1) Forestry  
2) Land and Soil  
3) Water  

Each standing commi^ee shall be open to 
parPcipaPon by all interested parPes and 
board parPcipaPon is welcomed and 
encouraged. However, official commi^ee 
members shall be appointed and, to the 
extent possible, be comprised of a member 
from each Region, up to three RCD members-
at-large, representaPves with technical 
subject ma^er experPse and any workable 
number of government agency partners. RCD 
members are not required to be from 
Member Districts.  

In addiPon to a chair, each standing 
commi^ee shall include a vice chair to 
provide leadership and support, as well as 
serve as a replacement to the chair to the 
commi^ee during period of absence. Both 
the chair and vice chair shall be from a 
Member District and appointed by the 
President.  

The President shall appoint the commi^ee 
chair and vice chair, of which one of these 
posiPons shall be filled from a Member 
district.  
  
The standing commi^ees’ purpose and 
operaPon shall be documented in a 
commi^ee charter, which shall be approved  
and, subsequently, reviewed annually by the 
President by the Board  The Board shall 
review each standing commi^ee’s charter 
every other year. 

All appointed commi^ee members shall be 
eligible to serve as voPng members of 
standing commi^ees, unless restricPons 
placed on a member’s parPcipaPon prohibit 
their eligibility as voPng members.  

Standing commi^ee members shall be 
appointed by the President, serve 3 year 
terms, with the iniPal members serving 
staggered terms as determined by the 
President and may be reappointed for 
consecuPve terms.  

There shall also be a Policy Commi^ee, which 
is responsible for prioriPzing and managing 
all legislaPve and CARCD policy issues that 
may affect RCDs, including but not limited to 
reviewing and making recommendaPons on 
proposed resoluPons or protests at the 
annual meePng. Members of the Policy 
Commi^ee include one person from each 
issue commi^ee, a CARCD board member, a 
CARCD execuPve commi^ee member, and 5 
at-large members, appointed with CARCD 
board approval for a total of 14 members. 
The President shall appoint the Policy 
Commi^ee Chair. CARCD’s legislaPve 
consultant shall be an ex-officio member of 
the Policy Commi^ee.  

The President shall submit recommendaPons 
to the Board for establishment of other 
standing commi^ees and defining their 
funcPons, which shall include, review of 
regular resoluPons pursuant to ArPcle X of 
these Bylaws. Only District Directors of 
Member Districts shall be eligible to serve as 
voPng members of standing commi^ees. The 
President shall annually appoint the 
members of standing commi^ees. Each 
standing commi^ee shall prepare a report 
reflecPng the proceedings of their meePngs, 
and shall report to the delegates at the 
annual conference and to the Board when 
requested.  

Standing commi^ee members shall serve 
three-year terms, with the iniPal members 
serving staggered terms as determined by 
the Board and may be reappointed for 
consecuPve terms.  

AddiPon or Removal of Standing Commi^ees. 
As stated in ArPcle V, SecPon 3(f), the Board 
has the authority to establish commi^ees to 
assist in the conduct of the business of the 
AssociaPon. The Board may dissolve a 
standing commi^ee that it created. 

Member d istr icts may propose the 
establishment or dissoluPon of standing 
commi^ees by submisng a wri^en request 
to the Board. The Board shall consider the 
proposal and either create the standing 
commi^ee or submit it as a resoluPon for 

17



consideraPon at the next duly called general 
membership meePng. 

Sec3on 4. Special CommiRees – Special 
commi^ees are established for up to a one-
year period to perform a parPcular study, 
invesPgaPon, or task for the Board or 
President.  Each special commi^ee shall be 
open to parPcipaPon by all interested parPes 
and board parPcipaPon is welcomed and 
encouraged. However, official commi^ee 
members shall be appointed by the Board. 
The Pres ident may appoint spec ia l 
commi^ees to make recommendaPons with 
respect to specific issues. The special 
commi^ees shall serve at the discrePon of 
the President or Board and shall report their 
acPviPes, from Pme to Pme to the Board, as 
directed by the President. All commi^ee 
members are eligible to vote. A charter is not 
required for the commi^ee. 

SecPon 5. MeePngs and Reports - All 
commi^ees shall meet as necessary to fulfill 
their responsibiliPes. Refer to ArPcle V, 
SecPon 4 for noPce, meePng, and acPon 
requirements of commi^ees. Minutes of each 
governance and standing commi^ee meePng 
shall be kept and all commi^ees shall present 
a report to the Board, as requested, and shall 
report either verbally or in a wri^en report to 
the delegates at the annual meePng. 

ARTICLE IX. ANNUAL CONFERENCE  

Sec3on 1. Time and Place – The AssociaPon 
shall conduct an annual conference of the 
general membership in November of each 
year, the exact date to be determined by the 
Board. The Board shall select the sites of the 
annual conferences at least 2 years in 
advance in order to ensure adequate 
faciliPes.  

Sec3on 2. ARendance – The annual 
conference shall be open to district directors 
of all member districts, associate members, 
partners and guests.  

Sec3on 3. Program – The program of each 
annual conference shall be planned to 
provide for acPviPes as will adequately 
inform the member districts of the programs 

of the AssociaPon, report to the member 
districts proposed policies and acPviPes for 
the coming year and provide the member 
districts with a complete financial report.  

ARTICLE VIII.X  RESOLUTIONS 

Sec3on 1. Scope of Resolu3ons – Any 
member district, Board of Directors, or 
governance or standing commi^ee may 
propose a resoluPon for adopPon by the 
genera l membership at the annual 
conference meePng.  ResoluPons shall 
declare policies, and/or call for acPons in 
connecPon with policies that are within the 
scope of the purposes and powers of the 
AssociaPon under Division 9 of the Public 
Resources Code of the State of California the 
Nonprofit Public Benefit CorporaPon Law of 
the State of California, and the ArPcles of 
IncorporaPon and Bylaws of the AssociaPon. 

Sec3on 2. Regular Resolu3ons – Any 
member district proposing a regular 
resoluPon shall submit it to the Policy 
Commi^ee on or before September 1.  The 
Policy Commi^ee shall assign the resoluPon 
and send copies thereof to the chair and 
members of the appropriate standing or 
governance commi^ee, and to each Member 
District on or before September 15.  The chair 
of the standing commi^ee receiving a 
proposed resoluPon shall review the 
resoluPon as soon as possible aoer receipt 
and may discuss any suggesPons for changes 
in the form or content of the resoluPon with 
the President of the Member District that 
submi^ed the resoluPon (or other contact 
p e rs o n s p e c i fi e d o n t h e s u b m i^e d 
resoluPon).  Any changes in the submi^ed 
resoluPon, however, shall be made by 
amendments adopted at the annual 
conference meePng. 

The Board may adopt procedures under 
which standing commi^ees or their Chairs 
will assist Member Districts, upon request, in 
draoing resoluPons. 

Any governance or standing commi^ee may 
propose a resoluPon within the purview of its 
duPes assigned by the Board by submisng it 
to the chair of the Policy Commi^ee on or 

18



before September 1.  The chair of the Policy 
Commi^ee shall assign the resoluPon and 
send copies thereof to the chair and 
members of the appropriate standing 
commi^ee and to each Member District on 
or before September 15. A resoluPon 
proposed by a standing commi^ee shall 
normally be referred to that commi^ee.  

Nothing in this secPon precludes the Policy 
Commi^ee, in the Chair’s sound discrePon, 
from referring a proposed resoluPon to more 
than one standing commi^ee. 

Sec3on 3. CommiRee Review – A standing 
commi^ee to which a proposed resoluPon 
has been assigned shall review the resoluPon 
and shall adopt a recommendaPon that the 
resoluPon be passed, that the resoluPon be 
passed with specific amendments approved 
by the commi^ee, or that the resoluPon be 
defeated.  The recommendaPons of a 
standing commi^ee shall be presented to the 
genera l membership at the annual 
conference meePng by the commi^ee chair.  
In the event a resoluPon is considered by 
more than one standing commi^ee, the chair 
of each commi^ee shall present their 
commi^ee’s recommendaPons to the general 
membership. 

Sec3on 4. Emergency Resolu3ons – A 
member district, the Board of Directors, or 
standing commi^ee may present a resoluPon 
for adopPon which is not submi^ed within 
the Pme prescribed by SecPon 2 of this 
ArPcle of the Bylaws, if the ExecuPve 
Commi^ee determines that the resoluPon is 
of such urgent importance that the usual 
Pme for commi^ee and District review 
should be waived.  Waivers permisng 
consideraPon of emergency resoluPons shall 
not be rouPnely granted, so as to preserve 
adequate Pme for consideraPon by Member 
Districts and standing commi^ees. 

Sec3on 5. Protests – Any Member District 
that believes that a proposed resoluPon 
would, if adopted, exceed the scope of the 
AssociaPon’s purposes or powers may protest 
by raising a point of order.  If, prior to the 
general membership’s consideraPon of a 
resoluPon at the annual conference , a A 
Member District must noPfy noPfies the 

President at least 10 days prior to the annual 
meePng that it intends to raise such a point 
of order on a proposed resoluPon that was 
submi^ed to the AssociaPon by September 1.  
the The noPficaPon shall include the 
raPonale for its posiPon. The President shall 
refer the ma^er, Pme permisng, to the 
Policy Commi^ee for an advisory opinion.  
Aoer conferring with the Member Districts 
proposing and protesPng the resoluPon, the 
chair of the Policy Commi^ee shall noPfy the 
President and those districts of the 
Commi^ee’s findings.  The Chair of the Policy 
Commi^ee shall prepare a brief wri^en 
memorandum summarizing the reasons for 
the commi^ee’s recommendaPon.  The Policy 
Commi^ee’s recommendaPon shall not be 
binding on the President or general 
membership. 
……………………………………………… 

19



Bylaws of the  
California Associa3on of Resource 

Conserva3on Districts 

BYLAWS COMMITTEE  WORKING DRAFT 
JULY 2024 

California Associa3on of  
Resource Conserva3on Districts 

1007 7th Street, #414 

Sacramento, CA 95814 
(916) 457-7901 

Web site: www.carcd.org 

These bylaws govern the acLviLes of the AssociaLon of RCDs and the Regions of CARCD.  Division 9 
of the Public Resources Code governs individual RCDs.  Other regional associaLons of RCDs may be 

governed by their own bylaws. 



Table of Contents 

Ar3cle I. General Provisions             1 
SecLon 1. Name 
SecLon 2. OrganizaLon                           
SecLon 3. Purposes            
SecLon 4. Regions      
SecLon 5. Fiscal Year   
SecLon 6. ConstrucLon of Bylaws   
SecLon 7. Amendment of Bylaws   

Ar3cle II. Defini3ons                         2 

Ar3cle III. Membership and Vo3ng        3  
SecLon 1. Eligibility for Membership  
SecLon 2. Dues                                      
SecLon 3. SelecLon of Delegates   
SecLon 4. VoLng 
SecLon 5. MeeLngs                              
SecLon 6. Mail VoLng   
SecLon 7. Powers and DuLes                 

Ar3cle IV. Regions                                   6 
SecLon 1. Regional Chairs and Vice         
Chairs 
SecLon 2. DuLes of Regional Chairs and Vice 
Chairs 
SecLon 3. MeeLngs                               
SecLon 4. Mail VoLng           

Ar3cle VI. Board of Directors            8 

SecLon 1. Membership                          
SecLon 2. CompensaLon                       
SecLon 3. Powers and DuLes    
SecLon 4. MeeLngs                                 
SecLon 5. ExecuLve Commi]ee   

Ar3cle VII. Officers                            13 
SecLon 1. Officers                                   
SecLon 2. NominaLons                           
SecLon 3. ElecLons                                 
SecLon 4. President                                 
SecLon 5. Vice President    
SecLon 6. Secretary-Treasurer                
SecLon 7. Immediate Past President   
SecLon 8. NACD Board Member 
SecLon 9. Bond 

Ar3cle VIII. CommiRees                     15 
SecLon 1. General 
SecLon 2. Governance Commi]ees 
SecLon 13. Standing Commi]ees   
SecLon 24. Special Commi]ees  
SecLon 5. MeeLngs and Reports   

Ar3cle VIII. Resolu3ons  18 
SecLon 1. Scope of ResoluLons    
SecLon 2. Regular ResoluLons   
SecLon 3. Commi]ee Review   
SecLon 4. Emergency ResoluLons   
SecLon 5. Protests                                   

                                                                                              

I



CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION OF RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICTS  

BYLAWS 

ARTICLE I.  GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Sec3on 1. Name – The name of this 
corporaLon is the California AssociaLon of 
Resource ConservaLon Districts (CARCD). 

Sec3on 2. Organiza3on – The AssociaLon is 
organized under the Nonprofit Public Benefit 
CorporaLon Law of the State of California. 

Sec3on 3. Purposes – The AssociaLon has 
the purposes for which it is authorized under 
Division 9 of the Public Resources Code of the 
State of California.  As such, the AssociaLon is 
an instrumentality of member districts in 
carrying out the natural resources and soil 
and water policies of the State of California, 
insofar as those funcLons have been 
delegated to the districts by statute.  

Sec3on 4. Regions – For the purpose of 
elecLng members of the Board of Directors of 
the AssociaLon (other than the President, 
Vice President, Secretary-Treasurer) and for 
such other purposes as may properly be 
delegated by the Board of Directors, the 
membership shall be divided into ten 
representaLve geographic Regions as listed 
below. IniLally, RCDs are assigned to Regions 
as they existed in December 2024. The Board 
of Directors may move an RCD to a new 
Region on the request of the RCD and with 
the concurrence of both the losing and 
gaining RCD. In moving an RCD to a new 
Region the Board of Directors shall consider 
the future viability of the losing Region and 
shall maintain geographical conLnuity of the 
Regions.  

(a) North Coast Region.  

(b) Modoc Plateau Region. 

(c) Central Sierra Region. 

(d) High Desert Region. 

(e) Southern Baja Region. 

(f) SoCal Inland Region. 

(g) Central Coast Region. 

(h) Bay Delta Region. 

(i) Sacramento Valley Region. 

(j) San Joaquin Valley Region. 

Sec3on 5. Fiscal Year – The fiscal business 
year of the AssociaLon shall commence on 
the first day of July of each calendar year and 
shall terminate on the thirLeth  day of June 
of the following calendar year. 

Sec3on 6. Construc3on of Bylaws – These 
Bylaws shall be construed and applied in 
accordance with the Nonprofit Public Benefit 
CorporaLon Law of the State of California.  In 
the event of any conflict between a provision 
of these Bylaws and the Nonprofit Public 
Benefit CorporaLon Law, that provision shall 
not be given effect, but the remaining 
provisions of these Bylaws shall be applied 
without regard to the invalid provision. 

Sec3on 7. Amendment of Bylaws – These 
Bylaws may be amended by a majority vote 
of a quorum of member districts. 

ARTICLE II.  DEFINITIONS (NOTE: defini3ons 
reorder alphabe3cally)  

Sec3on 1. As used in these Bylaws: 

(a) “AssociaLon” means the California 
AssociaLon of Resource ConservaLon 
Districts. 

(b) “Board of Directors” or “Board” means 
the Board of Directors of the AssociaLon. 

1



(c) “Director” means a member of the Board 
of Directors. 

(d) “District” means a Resource ConservaLon 
District of the State of California. 

(e) “District director” means a director of a 
district. 

(f) “Member district” means a district that is 
a current member of the AssociaLon. 

(g) “Region” means a geographic division 
specified in SecLon 4 of ArLcle I, and also 
means the group of member districts 
comprising that geographic Region. 

(h) “Regional Chair” means the Chair of a 
Region elected by the members of that 
Region. 

(i) “Regional Vice-Chair” means the Vice 
Chair of a Region elected by the 
members of that Region. 

(j) “ResoluLon” means a document on 
AssociaLon policy or intent (1) proposed 
for adopLon by the general membership 
of the AssociaLon, by one or more 
districts, or by a governance or a standing 
commi]ee of the AssociaLon or (2) 
adopted by the general membership of 
the AssociaLon or (3) adopted by the 
Board of Directors under their purposes 
and powers. 

ARTICLE III.  MEMBERSHIP/VOTING 

Sec3on 1. Eligibility for Membership – Every 
district shall be eligible for membership in the 
AssociaLon. 

Sec3on 2. Dues – A district shall become a 
member of the AssociaLon and shall renew 
its membership by payment of annual 
AssociaLon dues, which shall be established 
and assessed by the Board of Directors. The  
Board of Directors has the discreLon to allow 
one or more districts to be a member of the 
associaLon while paying less than the 
approved annual rate provided each district  
follows requirements established in policy  to 
request such status. 

Sec3on 4. Selec3on of Delegates – Each 
member district shall select a district director 
as its delegate (and may select another 
district director as an alternate delegate) to 
represent the district in any meeLng of the 
members of the AssociaLon or at any 
Regional meeLng of the AssociaLon.  
Delegates and alternates shall be selected by 
vote of the district’s directors and shall serve 
for a term of one year, unless sooner 
removed by a vote of the district’s directors 
taken at a public meeLng. 

Sec3on 4. Vo3ng – Only delegates (or 
alternate delegates acLng in the absence of a 
regular delegate) shall be enLtled to vote at 
meeLngs of the general membership and 
Regional meeLngs. (NOTE: This sentence 
moved without changes from Ar3cle XI, 
Sec3on 6, second to last paragraph of 
current Bylaws) Each member district shall 
have one vote, which shall be exercised by a 
delegate represenLng the district at the 
annual meeLng, at any other meeLng 
wherein the general membership is 
assembled, or at any Regional meeLng.  At 
any meeLng of the general membership a 
majority of the member districts represented 
by at least one District Director shall 
consLtute a quorum for the conduct of 
business.  All acLons of the member districts, 
including elecLon of directors and officers, 
shall be taken upon a majority vote (greater 
than 50%) of the members present and 
voLng. (NOTE: this sec3on was previously 
Sec3on 3 - changes from exis3ng Bylaws 
noted by strikeout and underline) 

No voLng by proxy or cumulaLve voLng shall 
be permi]ed at meeLngs of the general 
membership or at Regional meeLngs. (NOTE: 
This sentence moved without changes from 
Ar3cle XI, Sec3on 6, second to last 
paragraph of current Bylaws) 

Sec3on 5. Mee3ngs – A regular annual 
meeLng of the general membership shall be 
held at the annual conference. The exact date 
and locaLon of which shall be determined by 
the Board of Directors. If the Board 
determines that it is not pracLcal or possible 
to have the annual meeLng at the 

2



conference, the President shall call a special 
meeLng as described in ArLcle V, SecLon 1. 
NoLce of the annual meeLng shall be given 
pursuant to this secLon not less than 60 days 
prior to that meeLng by electronic mail or, if 
no email address is available, by first class 
mail, or  Priority Mail or other trackable mail 
service to each member district at the last 
known address of each member.  NoLce of 
the annual meeLng shall specify any acLon 
that the Board of Directors, at the Lme the 
noLce is given, intends to present for acLon 
by the general membership, but any proper 
ma]er may be presented at the meeLng for 
acLon of the members. (NOTE: This prior 
sentence was relocated from the following 
paragraph with  changes noted.) The noLce 
of the annual meeLng at which elecLon of 
officers is to occur shall also include the 
Nomination Commi]ee’s list of nominees for 
the offices of President, Vice President, and 
Secretary/Treasurer. (NOTE: This prior 
sentence was relocated from the following 
paragraph with the noted changes.) 

In accordance with SecLon 5510 of the 
CorporaLons Code of the State of California, 
special meeLngs of the membership may be 
called by the Board of Directors, by the 
President, or upon peLLon of  five percent or 
more of the members the la]er of which 
requires acLon by the Boards of Directors  of 
peLLoning districts, submi]ed to the 
President.  Such a peLLon shall specify the 
general nature of the business to be 
transacted at the special meeLng.  Upon 
receipt of such a peLLon, the President or 
the Board of Directors shall call a special 
meeLng of the members for the transacLon 
of that business not less than 35 days nor 
more than 90 days aner receipt of the 
peLLon.  The President or Board of Directors 
shall provide not less than 10 nor more than 
90 days noLce of the place, date, and Lme of 
each meeLng of the general membership by 
electronic mail or, if no email address is 
available, by first class mail or Priority Mail or 
other trackable mail service, to each member 
district at the last known address of each 
member. (NOTE: This prior sentence was 
relocated to the paragraph above with 
changes noted.) The noLce shall state the 
general nature of the business to be 
transacted. 

The President of the AssociaLon, or the Vice 
President in the absence of the President, or 
the Secretary-Treasurer in the absence of 
both the President and Vice-President shall 
preside at all meeLngs of the general 
membership.  Except as otherwise provided 
in these Bylaws or the Nonprofit Public 
Benefit CorporaLon Law of the State of 
California, the proceedings shall be 
conducted in accordance with applicable 
provisions of Robert’s Rules of Order. 

Sec3on 6. Mail Vo3ng  – Except as otherwise 
provided in SecLon 4 of ArLcle IV of these 
Bylaws, any acLon which may be taken by the 
membership at any regular, special, or 
Regional meeLng, including the elecLon of 
directors of officers, may also be taken 
without a meeLng if the AssociaLon or 
Region, respecLvely, distributes a wri]en 
ballot by first class mail to each member 
enLtled to vote on the ma]er.  The ballot 
shall set forth the proposed acLon, provide a 
suitable means by which each member 
district may indicate its vote, and provide a 
reasonable Lme within which to return the 
ballot to the AssociaLon or Region, as the 
case may be. 

The mail balloLng shall be valid only if the 
number of votes cast meets the applicable 
quorum required to be present at a meeLng.  
Mail balloLng shall be conducted in all 
respects in accordance with SecLon 5513 of 
the CorporaLons Code.  The secretary of each 
member district voLng by mail ballot shall 
cerLfy that the acLon thereon is the acLon of 
the Board of Directors of that member 
district. 

Sec3on 7. Powers and Du3es – The general 
membership acLng at a meeLng or by mail 
voLng, in accordance with these Bylaws, shall 
have the following powers and duLes: 

(a) These Bylaws may be amended only by 
acLon of the general membership. 

(b) Delegates of member districts may place 
names in nominaLon for officers during 
elecLon years at the scheduled annual 
membership meeLng. 

3



(c) The general membership shall elect a 
President, Vice President, and Secretary-
Treasurer on odd numbered years.  

(d) The general membership may adopt 
resoluLons within the scope of the 
purposes and powers of the associaLon 
for implementaLon by the Board of 
Directors. 

(e) The general membership may request 
reports from the Board of Directors, 
parLcular officers, and commi]ees of the 
AssociaLon, which shall be submi]ed to 
the members in such form and at such 
Lme as directed by acLon of the general 
membership. 

ARTICLE IV.  REGIONS 

Sec3on 1. Regional Chairs and Vice Chairs – 
The member districts of each Region shall 
biennially, at the Region’s regular meeLng, 
elect a Regional Chair and Regional Vice 
Chair, who shall take office immediately 
following their elecLon.  Only directors of 
member districts shall be eligible to serve as 
Regional Chair and Regional Vice Chair.  

In the event that no directors of member 
districts are willing to assume the posiLon of 
Regional Chair or Regional Vice Chair, then 
the Region may elect either a District 
Manager or ExecuLve Director of a resource 
conservaLon districts that is a member 
districts to serve as Regional Chair or 
Regional Vice Chair or both.  

The term of Regional Chair and Regional Vice 
Chair shall be two years and they may 
succeed themselves.   

NOTE TO READER: There are two alternaLves 
related to whether District Managers /   
ExecuLve Directors of RCDs should have a 
seat on the Board of Directors. This provision 
is applicable here and in the secLon on 
Membership of the Board of Directors. 
Having a seat on the Board of Directors also 
includes the right to vote as, pursuant of CA 
Code,  all members of the Board of Directors 
are enLtled to vote that cannot be excluded. 
Each alternaLve has two opLons. OpLon A 
retains the three District Managers on the 

Board of Directors and provides that District 
Managers who are filling the Regional Chair 
role also are members of the Board of 
Directors. OpLon B of the AlternaLves 
eliminates any opportunity for District 
Managers/ExecuLve Directors to be seated 
on the Board of Directors. The alternaLve 
language is in italics. Any new language (not 
in the exisLng Bylaws is underlined. Any 
language from the exisLng Bylaws proposed 
for deleLon is in strikeout. 

DM Alterna3ve 1A: 
The Regional Chair shall also serve as a 
member of the Board of Directors.  A 
Regional Chair who is not a District Director 
may not serve on the Execu?ve Commi@ee.   

DM Alterna3ve 1B:  
A Regional Chair or Vice Chair who is not a 
District Director may not serve on the CARCD 
board of directors. However, in the situa?on, 
where a District Manager / Execu?ve Director 
is the Regional Chair, the Regional Vice Chair, 
if a District Director, may serve as the 
Region’s representa?ve on the Board of 
Directors. 

However, a Regional Chair may not 
simultaneously serve as President, Vice 
President, Secretary-Treasurer or Immediate 
Past President.  Upon elecLon of the Regional 
Chair to such an office, the office of Regional 
Chair shall become vacant.  Any vacancy in 
the offices of Regional Chair or Regional Vice 
Chair, including removal from office as 
provided in the Nonprofit Public Benefit 
CorporaLon Law, shall be filled, for the 
remainder of the unexpired term, by a special 
elecLon of the member districts of the 
Region. 

The Bay Delta, North Coast, Sacramento 
Valley, SoCal Inland and Southern California 
Regions shall hold their elecLons during even 
years.  The Central Coast, Central Sierra, High 
Desert, Modoc Plateau and San Joaquin 
Valley Regions shall hold their elecLons 
during odd numbered years. 

Sec3on 2. Du3es of Regional Chairs and Vice 
Chairs - Each Regional Chair will ensure the 
scheduling of up to two Regional regular 

4



annual meeLngs, serve as a member of the 
CARCD Board of Directors, act as the liaison 
between the Regional RCDs and CARCD 
Board of Directors, assist the President or 
commi]ee chairperson with any projects, 
and act as a liaison to other organizaLons in 
order to promote CARCD. Each Vice-Chair will 
exercise all the funcLons of the Regional 
Chair in absence of or disabling of the 
Regional Chair including voLng at the  CARCD 
Board of Directors meeLng. 

Sec3on 3. MeeLngs – Each Region shall 
annually have at least one regular meeLng.  
Regional meeLngs shall be called by the 
Regional Chair or by the Board of Directors, 
who shall provide  30 calendar days’ noLce of 
the place, date, and Lme of each Region 
meeLng by electronic mail. In the event that 
email is not available for each district, first 
class mail, Priority Mail or other trackable 
mail service may be used. 

One district shall consLtute a quorum for the 
transacLon of business at a Regional 
meeLng, and acLon shall be taken by a 
majority of the Region members present and 
voLng.  However, unless at least one-third of 
the member districts in the Region are in 
a]endance at a regular Regional meeLng, the 
only ma]ers which may be voted on are 
those ma]ers the general nature of which 
was specified in the noLce of the meeLng.  
The Regional Chair or, in the absence of the 
Regional Chair, the Regional Vice Chair shall 
preside over Regional meeLngs. 

Sec3on 4. Mail Vo3ng – Mail voLng by 
Regions shall be permi]ed, except with 
respect to biennial, regular Region elecLons, 
in accordance with secLon 6 or ArLcle III of 
these Bylaws. 

ARTICLE V. BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

NOTE TO READER: There are two alternaLves 
related to whether District Managers should 
have a seat on the Board of Directors. Having 
a seat on the Board of Directors also includes 
the right to vote as, pursuant to CA Code,  all 
members of the Board of Directors are 
enLtled to vote. AlternaLve 1 addresses the 
three District Managers/ExecuLve directors 
who are elected by their peers and, pursuant 

to the current Bylaws, are members of the 
Board of Directors. AlternaLve 2 addresses 
the situaLon where a District Manager/
ExecuLve Director is serving as the Regional 
Chair and, pursuant to the current Bylaws 
they can serve on the Board of Directors but 
are not enLtled to a vote. Each alternaLve 
has two opLons. OpLon A retains the three 
District Managers on the Board of Directors 
and provides that District Managers who are 
filling the Regional Chair role also are 
members of the Board of Directors. OpLon B 
o f t h e A l te r n aL ve s e l i m i n ate s a ny 
opportunity for District Managers to be part 
of the Board of Directors. The alternaLve 
language in in italics. Any new language (not 
in the exisLng Bylaws is underlined. Any 
language from the exisLng Bylaws proposed 
for deleLon is in strikeout.  

Sec3on 1. Membership – The Board shall 
consist of the Regional Chairs from each of 
the regions, the President, the Vice President, 
the Secretary-Treasurer, Immediate Past 
President, (NOTE: The provision that the 
immediate past president be a member of 
the Board of Directors was relocated from 
the exis3ng Bylaws last paragraph of this 
sec3on) NACD Board Member (if this posiLon 
is not filled by a Board Member represenLng 
another Board posiLon).  

DM Alterna3ve 2A: and up to three members 
who are either District Managers or Execu?ve 
Directors of member resource conserva?on 
districts.  

The three District Managers or Execu?ve 
Directors shall be nominated and elected by 
their peers represen?ng member districts at 
the annual mee?ng. The President shall 
recommend and the Board of Directors shall 
appoint a nomina?ng commi@ee consis?ng of 
District Managers/Execu?ve Directors. The 
elected District Managers/Execu?ve Directors 
shall have one representa?ve from the 
following three areas of the state (Northern, 
Central or Southern). 

DM Alterna3ve 2B: and up to three members 
who are either District Managers or Execu?ve 
Directors of resource conserva?on districts 
that are member districts. 
  

5



The three ex officio members shall be 
appointed by the President and approved by 
the Board of Directors for two-year terms 
from the Lme of approval. 

The three District Managers or Execu?ve 
Directors shall be nominated and elected by 
their peers represen?ng member districts at 
the annual mee?ng. The President shall 
recommend and the Board of Directors shall 
appoint a nomina?ng commi@ee consis?ng of 
District Managers/Execu?ve Directors. The 
elected District Managers/Execu?ve Directors 
shall have one representa?ve from the 
following three regions areas of the state 
(Northern, Central or Southern).  

Nothing in these Bylaws precludes an officer 
or another Board Member from serving as 
the NACD Board Member; however, if this 
individual is also the NACD Board Member, 
this Board Member shall have only one vote. 
The NACD Board member shall be filled by a 
District Director in the following priority 
order:  President, Immediate Past President, 
Vice President. If none of these individuals 
are willing to be the NACD Board Member, 
then the Board shall select by vote other 
Board member who is a District Director, or 
by solicitaLon of a District Director of a 
member district.  

DM Alterna3ve 1A  and 2A con3nua3on: 
All Directors of the Associa?on shall be 
District Directors of Member Districts, except 
the three District Managers/Execu?ve 
Directors and any District Manager/Execu?ve 
Director serving as a Regional Chair. 

DM Alterna3ve 1A  and 2B con3nua3on: 
All Directors of the Associa?on shall be 
District Directors of Member Districts, except 
the three District Managers/Execu?ve 
Directors.  

DM Alterna3ve 1B and 2A con3nua3on: 
All Directors of the Associa?on shall be 
District Directors of Member Districts, except  
District Managers/Execu?ve Directors who 
are serving as Regional Chairs. 

DM Alterna3ve 1B and 2B con3nua3on: 
All Directors of the Associa?on shall be 
District Directors of Member Districts. 

Only one individual from any member district 
may be on the Board of Directors. However, 
Officers are not subject to this provision. The 
President or, in the President’s absence, the 
Vice President or Secretary-Treasurer shall 
preside at meeLngs of the Board. 

Sec3on 2. Compensa3on – The Directors 
shall serve without compensaLon, but shall 
be enLtled to reasonable reimbursement for 
travel and other expenses incurred in 
connecLon with their official duLes.  The 
Board shall establish procedures for 
authorizaLon of these expenses, which shall 
require prior authorizaLon as a condiLon for 
reimbursement and copies of receipts. The 
Board may delegate this funcLon to the 
President under procedures established by 
the Board. 

Sec3on 3. Powers and Du3es – The Board of 
Directors shall have the following powers and 
duLes: 

(a) The Board shall manage the affairs of the 
AssociaLon consistent with the powers 
and purposes of the AssociaLon, the 
provisions of these Bylaws, and policies 
established by resoluLon of the general 
membership. 

(b) The Board shall define and establish 
p o l i c i e s a n d p ro c e d u re s o f t h e 
Assoc iaLon, which sha l l not be 
inconsistent with policies established by 
resoluLon of the general membership. 

(c) The Board shall review and approve an 
annual budget for the AssociaLon, fix the 
rate of compensaLon of AssociaLon 
ExecuLve Director, authorize the 
payment of necessary expenses of the 
AssociaLon, arrange for an annual audit 
of the AssociaLon's financial affairs by a 
qualified accountant or accounLng firm, 
and provide each Member District with a 
copy of an annual report not later than 
120 days aner the close of each fiscal 
year of the AssociaLon by making it 
available on the AssociaLon’s website.  
The annual report shall contain in 
appropriate detail (1) the assets and 
liabiliLes of the AssociaLon as of the end 

6



of the fiscal year, (2) the principal 
changes in assets and liabiliLes during 
the fiscal year, (3) the revenue or receipts 
of the AssociaLon, both unrestricted and 
restricted to parLcular purposes, for the 
fiscal year, (4) the expenses or 
disbursements of the AssociaLon, for 
both general and restricted purposes, 
during the fiscal year, and (5) any other 
informaLon required by SecLon 6321 of 
the CorporaLons Code of the State of 
California. 

(d) The Board shall establish a policy relaLng 
to all external communicaLons of the 
AssociaLon. 

(e) The Board shall provide guidance and 
assistance to the Regional Chairs in 
developing and effectuaLng plans and 
programs for improving the effecLveness 
of Districts within the Region. 

(f) The Board may appoint commi]ees to 
assist in the conduct of the business of 
the AssociaLon and shall approve the 
charter of each standing commi]ee.  
These commi]ees may exercise the 
authority of the Board as to ma]ers 
delegated by resoluLon of the Board.  
However, no commi]ee of the Board may 
act as to those ma]ers specified in 
SecLon 5 in which the ExecuLve 
Commi]ee may not act.  The Board may 
appoint one or more  alternate members 
of any commi]ee of the Board, other 
than the ExecuLve commi]ee, who may 
replace any absent member at any 
meeLng of the commi]ee. 

(g) The Board shall keep ensure the Member 
Districts of the AssociaLon kept  
informed of the AssociaLon’s affairs and 
a c L v i L e s , a n d o f p r o g r a m s , 
accomplishments, and problems of the 
districts. The meeLng noLces and 
agendas for the Board and all commi]ee 
meeLngs shall be posted in the 
AssociaLon website in advance of 
meeLngs. AddiLonally, the minutes of all 
meeLngs of the Board and all commi]ees 
shall be posted on the AssociaLon 
website. 

(h) The Board may fill any and all vacancies 
in the office of President, Vice President, 
or Secretary-Treasurer for the remainder 
of the unexpired term if such vacancy 
occurs aner June 1 in the year in which 
elecLons for the office is to occur.  The 
general membership may, by elecLon, 
select a successor to fill such a vacancy 
that occurs prior to the Lme aner which 
the Board of Directors has authority to fill 
the vacancy.  

(i) The Board may delegate the performance 
of funcLons and duLes to the President 
or other appropr iate officers or 
employees of the AssociaLon; provided 
that the acLviLes of the AssociaLon shall 
be managed and all corporate powers 
shall be exercised under the ulLmate 
direcLon of the Board.  Nothing in this 
subsecLon authorizes the Board to 
delegate authority to enter contracts on 
behalf of the AssociaLon unless the 
Board or the ExecuLve Commi]ee has 
previously approved the substance of the 
contract ( inc luding any financia l 
obligaLons). 

(j) The Board may establish an advisory 
council or individuals not associated with 
any RCD to advise the Board on any 
ma]er within the scope of its authority. 
The Vice President shall be the chair of 
the  council.  

Sec3on 4. Mee3ngs – The Board shall meet 
during the annual conference and shall 
annually hold at least  two addiLonal regular 
meeLng at such Lmes and places as the 
Board shall determine.  The President may 
call special meeLngs of the Board and who 
shall call a special meeLng if requested in 
wriLng by the Vice President, Secretary-
Treasurer, or any two Directors.  AddiLonally, 
the President shall call a special meeLng 
pursuant to the provisions specified for the 
Board of Directors to review any acLon of the 
ExecuLve Commi]ee.  Special meeLngs shall 
require at least five days noLce by first-class 
mail, personal delivery, or electronic means 
to each Director. 

7



A majority of the Board shall consLtute a 
quorum at all meeLngs.  A majority of the 
Directors present at a meeLng at which there 
is a quorum shall be required for all acLons of 
the Board, except that approval of a majority 
of all Directors of the Board shall be required 
for acLons with respect to self-dealing 
transacLons under SecLon 5233 of the 
CorporaLons Code and approval of contracts 
with corporaLons having mutual directors 
under SecLon 5234 of the corporaLons Code.  
Approval of a majority vote of a quorum of 
Directors who are not parLes to a proceeding 
for which a corporate agent seeks 
indemnificaLon shall be required in order to 
authorize that indemnificaLon pursuant to 
SecLon 5235 of the CorporaLons Code. 

A meeLng of the Board at which a quorum is 
iniLally present may conLnue to transact 
business, notwithstanding the withdrawal of 
directors, if any acLon taken is approved by 
at least a majority of the required quorum for 
that meeLng, except where the approval of a 
greater number of Directors is required by 
these Bylaws. 

Members of the Board may parLcipate in a 
meeLng through use of any electronic 
means, so long as all members can acLvely 
parLcipate and vote in the meeLng. 

Directors so parLcipaLng by any electronic 
means shall be deemed to be present at the 
meeLng of the Board and to determine a 
quorum. 

Any acLon required or permi]ed, to be taken 
by the Board of Directors may be taken by 
electronic means without a meeLng if a 
majority of members of the Board, 
individually or collecLvely, consent in wriLng, 
which includes electronic transmission to the 
taking of that acLon.  In this instance, the 
members of the Board of Directors shall be 
given adequate Lme and noLce to submit 
comments and quesLons on the proposed 
acLon prior to a vote being considered.  The 
wri]en consent or consents shall be filed in 
the book of minutes of the Board’s 
proceedings. 

All provisions of this secLon respecLng 
noLce, meeLngs, and acLons of the Board 

shall apply analogously to commi]ees of the 
Board, including the ExecuLve Commi]ee.  
However, the commi]ee Chair shall be 
responsible for providing noLce, and shall 
have authority and duLes with respect to 
meeLngs of the commi]ee analogous to 
those of the President with respect to 
meeLngs of the Board. 

The CARCD ExecuLve Director or delegated 
staff person shall serve as non-voLng staff to 
the Board. 

Sec3on 5. Execu3ve CommiRee – There shall 
be an ExecuLve Commi]ee of the Board 
consisLng of the President, Vice President, 
Secretary-Treasurer, NACD Board Member, 
Immediate Past President, and two Regional 
Chair elected by the Regional Chairs. The 
CARCD ExecuLve Director shall serve as non-
voLng staff to the ExecuLve Commi]ee. The 
ExecuLve Commi]ee shall meet upon the call 
of the President, who shall serve as Chair of 
the ExecuLve Commi]ee.  NoLce of meeLngs 
of the ExecuLve Commi]ee shall be provided 
to members thereof in the same manner as 
specified in these Bylaws for noLce of special 
meeLngs of the Board. 

Any four members of the ExecuLve 
Commi]ee shall consLtute a quorum for the 
conduct of business.  All acLons of the 
ExecuLve Commi]ee shall be reported to the 
full Board within two business days.  The 
minutes of all meeLngs of the execuLve 
Commi]ee shall be filed in the Board’s Book 
of Minutes. 

NOTE TO READER: The following two 
alternaLves address the authority of the 
ExecuLve Commi]ee. The enLre alternaLve 
language is in italics. New language (not in 
the exisLng Bylaws) is underlined while 
language from the exiLng Bylaws being 
proposed for deleLon is in strikeout. If 
wording is neither underlined nor in 
strikeout, it is language from the exisLng 
Bylaws.  

Ex Com Alterna.ve 1: Execu.ve Commi5ee 
authority: 
Except as herein provided, the Execu?ve 
Commi@ee shall have the same authority as 

8



the Board to act when the Board is not in 
session. (NOTE: This prior sentence  was 
relocated from the first paragraph of this   
sec.on.) In considering whether to take 
ac?on, the Execu?ve Commi@ee shall 
consider the poten?al controversy regarding 
the ac?on and whether it is ?me sensi?ve or 
whether the decision can wait for the next 
regularly scheduled mee?ng or special 
mee?ng of the Board of Directors. 

The Execu?ve Commi@ee shall have no power 
to: amend or repeal any resolu?on of the 
Board which, by its express terms, cannot be 
amended or repealed by the Execu?ve 
Commi@ee; take ac?on contrary to direc?ves 
or policies of the Board or the General 
membership; authorize expenditures or enter 
into contracts except pursuant to policies and 
procedures prescribed by the Board; to fill 
vacancies on the Board, the Execu?ve 
Commi@ee, or any other Commi@ee of the 
Board or to create or appoint members to any 
commi@ee of the Board;  or approve any self-
dealing transac?on subject to Sec?on 5233 of 
the Corpora?ons Code, except as permi@ed 
by the Sec?on 5212 of the Corpora?ons Code.  
The Board may disaffirm any prior ac?on of 
the Execu?ve Commi@ee, except valid and 
binding contracts entered into by the 
Execu?ve Commi@ee (or the President ac?ng 
at the direc?on of the Execu?ve Commi@ee) 
in accordance with the policies and 
procedures adopted by the Board.  Any two 
members of the Board of Directors may, 
within 10 days of receiving the minutes of an 
Execu?ve Commi@ee mee?ng, call for a 
special mee?ng of the Board of Directors. The 
President shall call a special mee?ng of the 
Board of Directors to be held within seven 
days of the request to consider disaffirming 
the ac?on of the Execu?ve Commi@ee.  

Ex Com Alterna.ve 2: Execu.ve Commi5ee 
authority: 
The Execu?ve Commi@ee shall have the 
following powers and du?es: 
(a) Personnel.  Subject to the budget adopted 

by the Board of Directors, the ExecuLve 
Commi@ee shall perform the following 
personnel ac?ons: (1) recommend 
compensa?on for the Execu?ve Director 
to the Board of Directors for approval; (2) 
perform annual reviews of the Execu?ve 

Director and submit that review to the 
Board of Directors; (3) review and 
a p p r o v e t h e c l a s s i fi c a ? o n a n d 
compensa?on plan and publicly posted 
salary schedule for CARCD employees 
submi@ed by the Execu?ve Director, 
which shall be reviewable by the Board of 
Directors in closed session upon request 
of the Board of Directors; (4) establish 
personnel policies for the conduct and 
behavior of employees, which shall be 
reviewable by the Board of Directors; and 
(5) undertake such other personnel 
ac?ons as may be requested by the 
Execu?ve Director in support of Execu?ve 
Director oversight of all other personnel 
ma@ers, which shall be reviewable by the 
Board of Directors in closed session upon 
request of the Board of Directors. 

(b) Delega?on.  The Execu?ve Commi@ee 
may act pursuant to any authority 
specifically delegated to it by the Board of 
Directors. The delega?on shall indicate 
whether the authority is s?ll subject to 
the ul?mate authority of the Board. 

(c) Authority to Act Between Mee?ngs.  The 
Execu?ve Commi@ee may act for the 
Board of Directors between Board 
mee?ngs when calling a special mee?ng 
of the Board of Directors is imprac?cable, 
provided that no such ac?on of the 
Execu?ve Commi@ee shall be binding on 
the Board of Directors un?l authorized or 
approved by the Board. 

(d) Repor?ng.  The President, or any person 
designated by the President, shall report 
to the Board of Directors, at each regular 
Board mee?ng, any ac?on taken by the 
Execu?ve Commi@ee since the last 
preceding regular Board mee?ng. The 
minutes o f Execu?ve Commi@ee 
mee?ngs, which at that ?me may s?ll be 
in dra^ form, shall be distributed to each 
member of the Board of Directors at least 
five days prior to Board mee?ngs. 

(e) Mee?ngs. The Execu?ve Commi@ee 
shall hold regularly scheduled 
mee?ngs as set by the President.  
Special mee?ngs of the Execu?ve 
Commi@ee may be called by the 

9



President upon no?ce to the 
members of that Commi@ee or upon 
wri@en request of three Execu?ve 
Commi@ee members.  No?ce for 
s p e c i a l E x e c u ? v e C o m m i @ e e 
mee?ngs shall be provided to the 
en?re Board: (1) upon five days’ 
wri@en no?ce sent by mail, or (2) 
upon 48 hours no?ce with no?ce 
provided by electronic means.  Any 
mee?ng, regular or special, may be 
held in person or by telephone or 
electronic transmission and may be 
a@ended by any Board member.  
Mee?ngs of the Execu?ve Commi@ee 
may be closed to others at the 
discre?on of the President or 
Commi@ee. Only members of the 
Execu?ve Commi@ee are allowed to 
vote on ma@ers at a mee?ng of the 
Commi@ee. 

(f) Minutes. The minutes of the 
Execu?ve Commi@ee mee?ngs shall 
be kept by the Execu?ve Director at 
CARCD’s principal office.  Ac?ons of 
the Execu?ve Commi@ee shall be 
available to any member of the Board 
of Directors upon request to the 
Execu?ve Director. 

ARTICLE VI.  OFFICERS 

Sec3on 1. Officers – The officers of the 
AssociaLon shall be President, Vice President, 
Secretary-Treasurer, and Immediate Past 
President.  The officers, excepLng the 
Immediate Past President, shall be elected by 
the General membership during a meeLng 
held at the odd numbered years at the 
associaLon’s annual conference from among 
nominaLons submi]ed as provided in SecLon 
2 of this ArLcle.  

If a meeLng of the General membership does 
not occur at the annual conference for any 
reason, the President shall call a special 
meeLng of the General membership to take 
place no later than 60 days aner the close of 
the annual conference during which the 
annual meeLng to elect officers that was not 
held.  If a quorum is not present at this 
special meeLng, the President shall call 
another special meeLng within 30 days of the 
meeLng at which a quorum was not present. 

In this instance, the Board of Directors shall 
provide noLce to all Member Districts of the 
decision to proceed by mail ballot and shall 
provide 40 days from such noLce to allow 
Member Districts to put forth nominaLons 
cerLfied by the Secretary of the District as 
being an acLon of the District. The ballot 
containing the names of those nominated by 
the NominaLon Commi]ee and by Member 
District shall be sent to all Member Districts 
pursuant to the mail voLng provisions. of 
these Bylaws. 

An individual can serve no more than two 
consecuLve full terms in a single officer 
posiLon.  

Only District Directors of Member Districts 
shall be eligible to serve as officers of the 
AssociaLon.  The officers of the AssociaLon 
shall serve a term of two years and may 
succeed themselves.  If a meeLng of the 
General Membership does not occur at the 
annual conference, the officers from the prior 
two years shall conLnue to serve unLl 
elecLons are held at a special meeLng of the 
membership or by mail voLng.  Except as 
authorized by resoluLon of the general 
membership of the officers shall serve 
without compensaLon, but shall be enLtled 
to reimbursement for expenses as provided 
for members of the Board of Directors. 

Sec3on 2. Nomina3ons – The Board shall, no 
later than March 31st in the year in which 
elecLons of officers is to be held, appoint a 
NominaLng Commi]ee consisLng of District 
Directors who are on the Board of Directors, 
the size and membership of which, shall be 
determined by the Board.  

The NominaLng Commi]ee shall noLfy the 
Member Districts that it is seeking nominees 
for all officer posiLons and shall request a 
candidate statement for each potenLal 
nominee. The NominaLng Commi]ee may  
independently solicit nominees. The 
NominaLng Commi]ee shall review the 
potenLal nominees, including any incumbent 
officers who seek reelecLon, to determine 
which potenLal nominees will be part of its 
s late of nominees. The NominaLng 
Commi]ee shall nominate one or more 
potenLal nominees for each officer posiLon.  

10



The NominaLng Commi]ee may not 
nominate a member of the Commi]ee. 

The Board shall schedule a meeLng of the 
general membership on one of the first two 
days of the annual conference for the 
purpose of nominaLng officers.  The Chair of 
the NominaLng Commi]ee and delegates of 
member districts shall at that Lme place 
names in nominaLon.  Immediately upon 
compleLon of nominaLons, each nominee 
shall be given an opportunity to address the 
general membership concerning the 
nominee’s qualificaLons and the reasons for 
the nominee’s candidacy.  NominaLons shall 
occur as specified above during a special 
meeLng of the General membership to elect 
officers. 

ElecLons for officers shall not be held on the 
same day as nominaLons.  This provision 
shall not apply to elecLon of officers at a 
special meeLng of the General membership, 
whether held in person or by electronic 
means. 

Sec3on 3. Elec3ons – Officers shall be 
elected by majority vote of the member 
districts present and voLng at the annual 
General membership meeLng or a special 
meeLng of the General membership.  If no 
candidate receives a majority vote, the two 
candidates with the highest number of votes 
shall parLcipate in a runoff elecLon.   

 There shall be no write-in candidates. 

The Board may appoint one or three 
Inspectors of ElecLon. If Inspectors of 
ElecLon are not so appointed or fail or refuse 
to serve, the President may appoint the 
Inspector or Inspectors of ElecLon at the 
annual conference.  The Inspectors of 
ElecLon shall determine what member 
districts are represented at the annual  
meeLng or special meeLng at which elecLons 
of officers is to occur and whether a quorum 
exists.  The Inspectors of ElecLon shall 
distribute and receive all ballots, shall hear 
and determine all challenges and quesLons in 
any way arising in connecLon with the right 
to vote, count and tabulate all votes, and 
shall do such acts as may be proper to 
conduct the elecLon with fairness to all 

members.  The winners of the elecLon shall 
be declared and cerLfied in wriLng by the 
Inspectors of ElecLon. If there are three 
inspectors of ElecLon, the decision, act, or 
cerLficate of all. The ballots shall be retained 
for the length of Lme specified by the board 
and may be inspected by any district director 
of a member district. 

Sec3on 4. President – The President is the 
general manager and chief execuLve officer 
of the AssociaLon. The President shall serve 
as Chair of the Board of Directors and of the 
ExecuLve Commi]ee and shall preside at the 
annual conference and other meeLngs of the 
general membership.  Within the authority 
delegated by the Board, the President shall 
have general supervision of the business 
affairs of the AssociaLon.  The President shall 
execute all contracts, deeds, bonds, and 
other instruments in wriLng authorized by 
the Board unless the board delegates some 
or all of the authority to the AssociaLon 
ExecuLve Director. 

Sec3on 5. Vice President – The Vice 
President shall exercise all the funcLons of 
the President in absence or disability of the 
President.  In the absence of the President, 
may execute all contracts, deeds, bonds, and 
other instruments in wriLng as authorized by 
the Board. The Vice President shall assume 
the office of the President upon the vacancy 
of that office and shall temporarily assume 
the office of Secretary-Treasurer upon the 
vacancy of that office unLl the posiLon is 
filled while sLll retaining the office of Vice 
President.  

Sec3on 6. Secretary-Treasurer – The 
Secretary-Treasurer is the chief financial 
officer of the AssociaLon.  The Secretary-
Treasurer shall provide guidance to, and 
define procedures for, the staff to ensure the 
collecLon of dues and other funds payable or 
owed to the AssociaLon.  

The Secretary-Treasurer shall perform such 
other duLes as are incidental to office of the 
chief financial officer of a nonprofit benefit 
corporaLon under the laws of the State of 
California. 

11



Sec3on 7. Immediate Past President -- The 
Immediate Past President shall represent the 
AssociaLon on the Board of the NaLonal 
AssociaLon of ConservaLon Districts if the 
President does not wish to serve in this 
capacity and shall serve on the CARCD board 
to assist the elected officers. 

Sec3on 8. NACD Board Member – The NACD 
Board Member  will report on the acLviLes of 
the NACD to the membership and will assure 
that this organizaLon’s policies and resource 
needs are reflected in the naLonal agenda. 

Sec3on 9. Bond – As directed by the Board, 
the President, Secretary-Treasurer, and the 
employees of the AssociaLon whose duLes 
include the handling of AssociaLon funds 
shall be bonded. 

ARTICLE VIII.  COMMITTEES 

Sec3on 1. General – All acLons of any 
commi]ee of the AssociaLon shall be 
governed by and taken in accordance with 
the provisions of these Bylaws. Al l 
commi]ees shall serve at the pleasure of the 
Board and all members shall be appointed by 
the Board. The following three types of 
commi]ees may be established by the Board 
of Directors as provided in ArLcle V, SecLon 
3(f). Except for special commi]ees, these 
commi]ees may exercise the authority of the 
Board as to ma]ers delegated by resoluLon 
of the Board or as otherwise included in 
these Bylaws. 

Sec3on 2. Governance CommiRees – As 
permanent commi]ees of the Board, the 
governance commi]ees serve as the main 
resource on governance of the Board and 
AssociaLon, support Board effecLveness, and 
ass ist the Board in execuLng their 
responsibiliLes. There shall be the following 
governance commi]ees:  

a. ExecuLve Commi]ee – whose 
authority, membership and duLes are 
specified in ArLcle V, SecLon 5. 

b. LegislaLve Commi]ee - which is 
responsible for prioriLzing and 
managing all legislaLve issues that 
may affect RCDs and the AssociaLon. 

Members of the commi]ee may 
include up to 15 members of which 
at least three (3) shall be district 
directors and the remaining members 
may be district directors or district 
staff. RCD members are not required 
to be from Member districts. 
Members serve 3-year terms, with 
the iniLal members serving staggered 
terms as determined by the Board 
and may be reappointed for 
consecuLve terms. The President 
shall appoint the commi]ee chair 
and vice chair of which one of these 
posiLons shall be filled with a district 
director from a Member district. The 
AssociaLon’s legislaLve consultant 
should parLcipate in commi]ee 
meeLngs as a non-voLng member. 

c. Po l i c y C o m m i ]e e - w h i c h i s 
responsible for prioriLzing and 
managing all AssociaLon internal 
operaLonal policy issues that may 
affect RCDs and the AssociaLon, 
including but not limited to reviewing 
and making recommendaLons on 
proposed resoluLons or protests at 
the annual meeLng as authorized in 
ArLc le V I I I . Members of the 
commi]ee may include up to one 
p e r s o n f r o m e a c h s t a n d i n g 
commi]ee, an AssociaLon board 
member, an ExecuLve Commi]ee 
member, and five (5) at-large 
members for a total of no more than 
14 members. Members serve 3-year 
terms, with the iniLal members 
s e r v i n g s t a g g e r e d t e r m s a s 
determined by the Board and may be 
reappointed for consecuLve terms. 
The President shall appoint the 
commi]ee chair and vice chair, of 
which one of these posiLons shall be 
filled with a district director from a 
Member district.  

d. Finance Commi]ee – whose duLes 
are to oversee the fiscal affairs of the 
AssociaLon. The Secretary-Treasurer 
of the Board of Directors shall serve 
as commi]ee chair.  The commi]ee 
shall consist of up to five (5) 
members, including the Secretary-

12



Treasurer, a second AssociaLon board 
member, and any other perLnent 
individuals deemed appropriate. The 
AssociaLon ExecuLve Director or 
their delegate shall serve as a non-
voLng member of the commi]ee. 
Members serve 3-year terms, with 
the iniLal members serving staggered 
terms as determined by the Board 
and may be reappointed for 
consecuLve terms. 

e. NominaLng/Inspectors of ElecLon 
Commi]ee – whose duLes and 
membership are specified in ArLcle 
VI, SecLons 2 and 3, respecLvely.  
AddiLonally, the commi]ee is to 
inform the general membership of 
any officer vacancies during an 
elecLon year. Members are district 
directors currently serving on the 
Board of Directors, serve a two-year 
term during an elecLon year and the 
year following an elecLon year, and 
may be reappointed for consecuLve 
terms. The President shall appoint 
the commi]ee chair and vice chair.   

Sec3on 3. Standing CommiRees – Standing 
commi]ees are long-term commi]ees of the 
Board which may be established that 
specialize in the consideraLon of parLcular 
subject areas that are in alignment with 
Division 9 of the Public Resources Code of 
California and RCD core funcLons and to 
make recommendaLons for consideraLon by 
the Board. 

Each standing commi]ee shall be open to 
parLcipaLon by all interested parLes and 
board parLcipaLon is welcomed and 
encouraged. However, official commi]ee 
members shall be appointed and, to the 
extent possible, be comprised of a member 
from each Region, up to three RCD members-
at-large, representaLves with technical 
subject ma]er experLse and any workable 
number of government agency partners. RCD 
members are not required to be from 
Member Districts.  

The President shall appoint the commi]ee 
chair and vice chair, of which one of these 

posiLons shall be filled from a Member 
district.  
  
The standing commi]ees’ purpose and 
operaLon shall be documented in a 
commi]ee charter, which shall be approved  
by the Board  The Board shall review each 
standing commi]ee’s charter every other 
year. 

All appointed commi]ee members shall be 
eligible to serve as voLng members of 
standing commi]ees, unless restricLons 
placed on a member’s parLcipaLon prohibit 
their eligibility as voLng members.  

Standing commi]ee members shall serve 
three-year terms, with the iniLal members 
serving staggered terms as determined by 
the Board and may be reappointed for 
consecuLve terms.  

AddiLon or Removal of Standing Commi]ees. 
As stated in ArLcle V, SecLon 3(f), the Board 
has the authority to establish commi]ees to 
assist in the conduct of the business of the 
AssociaLon. The Board may dissolve a 
standing commi]ee that it created. 

Member d istr icts may propose the 
establishment or dissoluLon of standing 
commi]ees by submiqng a wri]en request 
to the Board. The Board shall consider the 
proposal and either create the standing 
commi]ee or submit it as a resoluLon for 
consideraLon at the next duly called general 
membership meeLng. 

Sec3on 4. Special CommiRees – Special 
commi]ees are established for up to a one-
year period to perform a parLcular study, 
invesLgaLon, or task for the Board or 
President.  Each special commi]ee shall be 
open to parLcipaLon by all interested parLes 
and board parLcipaLon is welcomed and 
encouraged. However, official commi]ee 
members shall be appointed by the Board. 
The special commi]ees shall serve at the 
discreLon of the President or Board and shall 
report their acLviLes, from Lme to Lme to 
the Board, as directed by the President. All 
commi]ee members are eligible to vote. A 
charter is not required for the commi]ee. 

13



SecLon 5. MeeLngs and Reports - All 
commi]ees shall meet as necessary to fulfill 
their responsibiliLes. Refer to ArLcle V, 
SecLon 4 for noLce, meeLng, and acLon 
requirements of commi]ees. Minutes of each 
governance and standing commi]ee meeLng 
shall be kept and all commi]ees shall present 
a report to the Board, as requested, and shall 
report either verbally or in a wri]en report to 
the delegates at the annual meeLng. 

ARTICLE VIII.  RESOLUTIONS 

Sec3on 1. Scope of Resolu3ons – Any 
member district, Board of Directors, or 
governance or standing commi]ee may 
propose a resoluLon for adopLon by the 
general membership at the annual  meeLng.  
ResoluLons shall declare policies, and/or call 
for acLons in connecLon with policies that 
are within the scope of the purposes and 
powers of the AssociaLon under Division 9 of 
the Public Resources Code of the State of 
California the Nonprofit Public Benefit 
CorporaLon Law of the State of California, 
and the ArLcles of IncorporaLon and Bylaws 
of the AssociaLon. 

Sec3on 2. Regular Resolu3ons – Any 
member district proposing a regular 
resoluLon shall submit it to the Policy 
Commi]ee on or before September 1.  The 
Policy Commi]ee shall assign the resoluLon 
and send copies thereof to the chair and 
members of the appropriate standing or 
governance commi]ee, and to each Member 
District on or before September 15.  The chair 
of the commi]ee receiving a proposed 
resoluLon shall review the resoluLon as soon 
as possible aner receipt and may discuss any 
suggesLons for changes in the form or 
content of the resoluLon with the President 
of the Member District that submi]ed the 
resoluLon (or other contact person specified 
on the submi]ed resoluLon).  Any changes in 
the submi]ed resoluLon, however, shall be 
made by amendments adopted at the annual  
meeLng. 

The Board may adopt procedures under 
which commi]ees or their Chairs will assist 
Member Districts, upon request, in draning 
resoluLons. 

Any governance or standing commi]ee may 
propose a resoluLon within the purview of its 
duLes assigned by the Board by submiqng it 
to the chair of the Policy Commi]ee on or 
before September 1.  The chair of the Policy 
Commi]ee shall assign the resoluLon and 
send copies thereof to the chair and 
members of the appropriate standing 
commi]ee and to each Member District on 
or before September 15. 

Nothing in this secLon precludes the Policy 
Commi]ee, in the Chair’s sound discreLon, 
from referring a proposed resoluLon to more 
than one standing commi]ee. 

Sec3on 3. CommiRee Review – A standing 
commi]ee to which a proposed resoluLon 
has been assigned shall review the resoluLon 
and shall adopt a recommendaLon that the 
resoluLon be passed, that the resoluLon be 
passed with specific amendments approved 
by the commi]ee, or that the resoluLon be 
defeated.  The recommendaLons of a  
commi]ee shall be presented to the general 
membership at the annual meeLng by the 
commi]ee chair.  In the event a resoluLon is 
considered by more than one standing 
commi]ee, the chair of each commi]ee shall 
present their commi]ee’s recommendaLons 
to the general membership. 

Sec3on 4. Emergency Resolu3ons – A 
member district, the Board of Directors, or 
standing commi]ee may present a resoluLon 
for adopLon which is not submi]ed within 
the Lme prescribed by SecLon 2 of this 
ArLcle of the Bylaws, if the ExecuLve 
Commi]ee determines that the resoluLon is 
of such urgent importance that the usual 
Lme for commi]ee and District review 
should be waived.  Waivers permiqng 
consideraLon of emergency resoluLons shall 
not be rouLnely granted, so as to preserve 
adequate Lme for consideraLon by Member 
Districts and standing commi]ees. 

Sec3on 5. Protests – Any Member District 
that believes that a proposed resoluLon 
would, if adopted, exceed the scope of the 
AssociaLon’s purposes or powers may protest 
by raising a point of order.  A Member District 
must noLfy the President at least 10 days 

14



prior to the annual meeLng that it intends to 
raise such a point of order on a proposed 
resoluLon that was submi]ed to the 
AssociaLon by September 1.  the The 
noLficaLon shall include the raLonale for its 
posiLon. The President shall refer the ma]er 
to the Policy Commi]ee for an advisory 
opinion.  Aner conferring with the Member 
Districts proposing and protesLng the 
resoluLon, the chair of the Policy Commi]ee 
shall noLfy the President and those districts 
of the Commi]ee’s findings.  The Chair of the 
Policy Commi]ee shall prepare a brief 
wri]en memorandum summarizing the 
r e a s o n s f o r t h e c o m m i ] e e ’ s 
recommendaLon.  The Policy Commi]ee’s 
recommendaLon shall not be binding on the 
President or general membership. 

15



 

California Association of Resource Conservation Districts 
1007 7th Street #414 – Sacramento, CA -- 95814 

(916) 432-5938     www.carcd.org 

  
  

CARCD SPECIAL MEMBERSHIP MEETING SUMMARY 
Tuesday, July 30th, 2024 

 
1.      Call to order  

•         Rick Gomez called the meeting to order at approximately 2:04pm 
2.      Introductions 

•         Rick Gomez introduced himself, Nancy Wahl-Scheurich, and CARCD 
counsel Dale Stern 
  

3.      Code of Conduct for meeting 
•         Rick Gomez reviewed code of conduct and asked for any additions to 

the agenda under Item 5 on the agenda.  Peter VanDyke suggested that 
the following Items be added: 

o   Notices of meetings 
o   Financial reporting 
o   Election of Officers 
o   Following by-laws 
o   Record keeping and inspection 

  
4.      Determination of a quorum 

•         Upon roll call of Member RCDs present, it was determined that there 
was not a quorum.  Rick Gomez elected to keep the meeting open to 
allow the five RCDs who requested the meeting to share and discuss 
their concerns. 
  

5.      Background (CARCD): Concerns expressed by five RCDs and their request for 
Special Membership Meeting and vote on Resolution 

•         No action taken 
  

6.      Introduction of proposed Resolution 
•         Because of lack of quorum, resolution was not introduced. 

  
7.      Adjourn meeting 

•         Meeting adjourned at approximately 3:50pm. 
 



 

California Association of Resource Conservation Districts 
1007 7th Street #414 – Sacramento, CA -- 95814 

(916) 432-5938     www.carcd.org 

 
 

MEMO 
 
TO:  CARCD Member Directors and Executive Directors/District Managers 
DATE: July 26, 2024 
RE: Timeline and Process for member review, comment, and voting on proposed changes 
 to CARCD by-laws 
 
 
Below please find a description of the timeline and process for member review, comment, and 
voting on changes to CARCD’s by-laws. 
 

Early August:  CARCD will send the working draft of the amendments to the by-laws to the 
RCD members for review and comment. Members will receive two documents: a clean 
copy of the draft of the revised by-laws, and a red-lined version that shows all that was 
deleted, changed, or added.  
  
Early August – September 30th:  Members review working draft amendments to the by-laws 
and submit formal RCD comments to CARCD. 
  
October 1st – October 31st: By-laws committee reviews all comments and suggestions 
provided and creates a recommended version of the by-law amendments. This version will 
go through a legal review to ensure compliance with the non-profit public benefit 
corporation law in the California Corporations Code. 
  
November 1st:  CARCD sends the RCD members the proposed by-laws to be voted on in 
the Annual Business Meeting at the conference (tentatively scheduled for Friday, December 
13th, the day after the conference).  This gives RCDs approximately 40 days to review prior to 
voting at the annual meeting. 
 

Sincerely, 

 
 
Rick Gomez 
CARCD Board President 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 



Honey Lake Valley RCD District Manager Report
Kelsey Siemer - District Manager

August 22nd, 2024

RCD Administration:
● Bookkeeping

○ Monthly reports attached
■ Not final FY reports as we are working to close out FY23/24

○ Audit Initiation - Single Audit Required
■ Still working with CPA / Bookkeeping Team to plan ahead

● Admin:
○ Moving time-keeping to QuickBooks Time instead of Excel Sheets on the Drive

Watermaster:
● Begin working on Annual Use Report next week
● Winter time plan is to develop an SOP for Apportionments and Billing
● Other updates in Watermaster Report
● WAC

○ Next Meeting September 12th, 2024 at 5:30pm

Grant Updates:
● DWR: Urban and Multi-benefit Drought Relief Grant Program - Old Channel Project

○ Still trying to get a final Invoice from the contractor so we can close out the Grant
○ Working with DWR to make close-out happen as quickly as possible

● DWR: Lahontan Basin IRWM Implementation - Rounds 1 and 2
○ Round 1: Lead Admin Agency for City of Susanville / Round 2:

■ J-U-B working on permitting and CEQA for Johnstonville Dam
● 30% design plans are done, waiting on LIC approval
● Updated timeline has ground breaking on August 1, 2025 (sooner

if the levels drop in the Susan River)
■ J-U-B still working on permit for Madeline / Ravendale

● Working toward a late-fall or early-winter bid

● DOC: Susanville Ranch Park - Riparian Corridor and Working Lands Restoration
○ Signage is still in the works
○ Willow planting volunteer day is set for October 19th!

■ Working with Trout Unlimited, Keep America Beautiful, Keep CA Beautiful,
CA Volunteers

○ Timber contract is fully executed

● USFS: Post Fire Recovery - Sheep, Hog and Dixie Fire Scars
○ Details in Catherine’s Report
○ In August she has attended Cone Camp and Reforestation Camp



○ Have been working on new USFS funding
■ Dixie Fire Scar
■ Cone Collection Program

● NACD: TA2022
○ Point Blue has about $1,000 left to expend
○ PB to let us know about TA 2024 application (due end of September)

● SNC: Modoc RCD Capacity Building
○ Catherine and Kelsey (and possibly a Board Member if interested) to use the

funding to attend / present at CARCD Annual Conference in December
○ Looking into an equipment purchase to expend remainder of the funding

● Watershed Coalition: Lassen PBA
○ Interest Meeting held August 21
○ Realistic goal for this grant is to gauge interest in keeping the program going

■ No real funding sources out there currently
■ Open to applying for more funding, but Kelsey cannot continue to be the

program coordinator in a second round of funding
■ Current funding expires Dec. 2024

● NRCS: CARCD Underserved Farmers and Ranchers
○ Using the remainder of our funds / extended grant agreement to accomplish the

following:
■ Working with Tiffany on new ideas
■ Cover Crop Workshop in Fall 2024

● CAL FIRE Workforce Development Grant:
○ Catherine has been to Drone Camp
○ Upcoming training includes Initial Archaeology and FTT2

● CAL FIRE Forest Management Plan Grant:
○ Catherine working with Tim to draft FMPs and complete plots
○ Tim will have to most of the remainder of the fieldwork as Catherine’s personnel

budget is almost expended
○ Grant expires in Dec. 2024

● BLM GNA: Restoration Projects
○ Awarded! $730k through 2029!
○ Beginning planning phase for one small-scale restoration project to be completed

Spring / Summer 2025

Bigger Picture:



● Working on a possible Grant Proposal for Wildlife Fencing along 395 corridor
○ Funding possibilities include RCPP, Prop 4, or other State pools
○ Partners are VERY interested in supporting
○ Beers, Band, and Bitterbrush Stands (Backcountry Hunters and Anglers) on

October 25 - 27
■ Anyone want to go? Sponsorship opportunity?

● Looking to create a part-time or possible full-time “Restoration Coordinator” position
and/or hire a seasonal to participate in USFS and BLM grants.


	HLVRCD_August Agenda_08222024.docx.pdf
	HLVRCD_July Meeting Minutes_07252024.docx.pdf
	2024-08-09 Cover Memo to RCDs.pdf
	Working Draft Track Changes_Update to CARCD Bylaws August 2024.pdf
	Article I. General Provisions             1
	Section 2. Organization
	Section 3. Purposes
	Section 4. Regions
	Section 5. Fiscal Year
	Section 6. Seal
	Section 86. Construction of Bylaws
	Section 97. Amendment of Bylaws
	Article II. Definitions                         2
	Article III. Policies
	Article IVIII. Membership and Voting         4
	Section 1. Eligibility for Membership
	Section 2. Dues
	Section 3. Selection of Delegates
	Section 4. Voting
	Section 5. Meetings
	Section 6. Mail Voting
	Section 7. Powers and Duties
	Article IV. Regions                                   6
	Section 1. Regional Chairs and Vice
	Chairs
	Section 2. Duties of Regional Chairs and Vice Chairs
	Section 23. Meetings
	Section 4. Mail Voting
	Article VI. Board of Directors           7
	Section 1. Membership
	Section 2. Compensation
	Section 3. Powers and Duties
	Section 4. Meetings
	Section 5. Executive Committee
	Article VII. Officers                            10
	Section 1. Officers
	Section 2. Nominations
	Section 3. Elections
	Section 4. President
	Section 5. Vice President
	Section 6. Secretary-Treasurer
	Section 7. Immediate Past President
	Section 8. NACD Board Member
	Section 9. Bond
	Article VIII. Committees                     12
	Section 1. General
	Section 2. Governance Committees
	Section 13. Standing Committees
	Section 24. Special Committees
	Article VIII. Resolutions  13
	Section 1. Scope of Resolutions
	Section 2. Regular Resolutions
	Section 3. Committee Review
	Section 4. Emergency Resolutions
	Section 5. Protests
	CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION OF RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICTS
	ARTICLE III IV.  MEMBERSHIP/VOTING
	ARTICLE IV.  REGIONS
	ARTICLE V. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
	ARTICLE VI.  OFFICERS
	ARTICLE VIII.  COMMITTEES
	ARTICLE VIII.X  RESOLUTIONS


	Working Draft clean_Update to CARCD Bylaws August 2024.pdf
	Article I. General Provisions             1
	Section 2. Organization
	Section 3. Purposes
	Section 4. Regions
	Section 5. Fiscal Year
	Section 6. Construction of Bylaws
	Section 7. Amendment of Bylaws
	Article II. Definitions                         2
	Article III. Policies
	Article IVIII. Membership and Voting         4
	Section 1. Eligibility for Membership
	Section 2. Dues
	Section 3. Selection of Delegates
	Section 4. Voting
	Section 5. Meetings
	Section 6. Mail Voting
	Section 7. Powers and Duties
	Article IV. Regions                                   6
	Section 1. Regional Chairs and Vice
	Chairs
	Section 2. Duties of Regional Chairs and Vice Chairs
	Section 23. Meetings
	Section 4. Mail Voting
	Article VI. Board of Directors           7
	Section 1. Membership
	Section 2. Compensation
	Section 3. Powers and Duties
	Section 4. Meetings
	Section 5. Executive Committee
	Article VII. Officers                            10
	Section 1. Officers
	Section 2. Nominations
	Section 3. Elections
	Section 4. President
	Section 5. Vice President
	Section 6. Secretary-Treasurer
	Section 7. Immediate Past President
	Section 8. NACD Board Member
	Section 9. Bond
	Article VIII. Committees                     12
	Section 1. General
	Section 2. Governance Committees
	Section 3. Standing Committees
	Section 4. Special Committees
	Article VIII. Resolutions  13
	Section 1. Scope of Resolutions
	Section 2. Regular Resolutions
	Section 3. Committee Review
	Section 4. Emergency Resolutions
	Section 5. Protests
	CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION OF RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICTS
	ARTICLE III .  MEMBERSHIP/VOTING
	ARTICLE IV.  REGIONS
	ARTICLE V. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
	ARTICLE VI.  OFFICERS
	ARTICLE VIII.  COMMITTEES
	ARTICLE VIII.X  RESOLUTIONS


	Summary of 07302024 Special Membership Meeting.pdf
	07262024 MEMO - BY-LAWS TIMELINE AND PROCESS.pdf
	Draft Bylaws Summary of Changes.pdf
	District Manager Report 08222024.pdf
	Working Draft Track Changes_Update to CARCD Bylaws Aug 19 2024.pdf
	Article I. General Provisions             1
	Section 2. Organization
	Section 3. Purposes
	Section 4. Regions
	Section 5. Fiscal Year
	Section 6. Seal
	Section 86. Construction of Bylaws
	Section 97. Amendment of Bylaws
	Article II. Definitions                         2
	Article III. Policies
	Article IVIII. Membership and Voting        3 4
	Section 1. Eligibility for Membership
	Section 2. Dues
	Section 3. Selection of Delegates
	Section 4. Voting
	Section 5. Meetings
	Section 6. Mail Voting
	Section 7. Powers and Duties
	Article IV. Regions                                   6
	Section 1. Regional Chairs and Vice
	Chairs
	Section 2. Duties of Regional Chairs and Vice Chairs
	Section 23. Meetings
	Section 4. Mail Voting
	Article VI. Board of Directors           7 8
	Section 1. Membership
	Section 2. Compensation
	Section 3. Powers and Duties
	Section 4. Meetings
	Section 5. Executive Committee
	Article VII. Officers                            130
	Section 1. Officers
	Section 2. Nominations
	Section 3. Elections
	Section 4. President
	Section 5. Vice President
	Section 6. Secretary-Treasurer
	Section 7. Immediate Past President
	Section 8. NACD Board Member
	Section 9. Bond
	Article VIII. Committees                     152
	Section 1. General
	Section 2. Governance Committees
	Section 13. Standing Committees
	Section 24. Special Committees
	Section 5. Meetings and Reports
	Article VIII. X Resolutions  183
	Section 1. Scope of Resolutions
	Section 2. Regular Resolutions
	Section 3. Committee Review
	Section 4. Emergency Resolutions
	Section 5. Protests
	CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION OF RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICTS
	ARTICLE III IV.  MEMBERSHIP/VOTING
	ARTICLE IV.  REGIONS
	ARTICLE V. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
	ARTICLE VI.  OFFICERS
	ARTICLE VIII.  COMMITTEES
	ARTICLE VIII.X  RESOLUTIONS


	Working Draft clean 8 19 24_Update to CARCD Bylaws.pdf
	Article I. General Provisions             1
	Section 2. Organization
	Section 3. Purposes
	Section 4. Regions
	Section 5. Fiscal Year
	Section 6. Construction of Bylaws
	Section 7. Amendment of Bylaws
	Article II. Definitions                         2
	Article III. Membership and Voting        3
	Section 1. Eligibility for Membership
	Section 2. Dues
	Section 3. Selection of Delegates
	Section 4. Voting
	Section 5. Meetings
	Section 6. Mail Voting
	Section 7. Powers and Duties
	Article IV. Regions                                   6
	Section 1. Regional Chairs and Vice
	Chairs
	Section 2. Duties of Regional Chairs and Vice Chairs
	Section 3. Meetings
	Section 4. Mail Voting
	Article VI. Board of Directors            8
	Section 1. Membership
	Section 2. Compensation
	Section 3. Powers and Duties
	Section 4. Meetings
	Section 5. Executive Committee
	Article VII. Officers                            13
	Section 1. Officers
	Section 2. Nominations
	Section 3. Elections
	Section 4. President
	Section 5. Vice President
	Section 6. Secretary-Treasurer
	Section 7. Immediate Past President
	Section 8. NACD Board Member
	Section 9. Bond
	Article VIII. Committees                     15
	Section 1. General
	Section 2. Governance Committees
	Section 13. Standing Committees
	Section 24. Special Committees
	Section 5. Meetings and Reports
	Article VIII. Resolutions  18
	Section 1. Scope of Resolutions
	Section 2. Regular Resolutions
	Section 3. Committee Review
	Section 4. Emergency Resolutions
	Section 5. Protests
	CALIFORNIA ASSOCIATION OF RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICTS
	ARTICLE III.  MEMBERSHIP/VOTING
	ARTICLE IV.  REGIONS
	ARTICLE V. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
	ARTICLE VI.  OFFICERS
	ARTICLE VIII.  COMMITTEES
	ARTICLE VIII.  RESOLUTIONS





